THE PENNSYLVANIA STATE UNIVERSITY SCHREYER HONORS COLLEGE

DEPARTMENT OF NUTRITIONAL SCIENCE

EFFECT OF A DRIED PLUM NUTRITIONAL INTERVENTION ON GLUCOSE REGULATION IN POSTMENOPAUSAL WOMEN

EMILY BARTON SPRING 2020

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for a baccalaureate degree in Nutritional Science with honors in Nutritional Science

Reviewed and approved* by the following:

Mary Jane De Souza Professor of Kinesiology and Physiology Thesis Supervisor

Alison Gernand Assistant Professor of Nutritional Sciences Honors Adviser

* Electronic approvals are on file.

ABSTRACT

Estrogen deficiency during the postmenopausal time period leads to significant metabolic changes, putting women at risk for metabolic syndrome (MetS), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and cardiovascular diseases (CVD). As such, finding treatments which enhance healthy metabolism and insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women is a pressing health concern. Recently, dried plums (DP) have been investigated as a potential nutraceutical treatment for metabolic abnormalities, such as insulin resistance, impaired glucose and lipid handling, and inflammation. This randomized control trial assessed the effects of a 12-month DP nutritional intervention on blood glucose, insulin resistance, and body fat distribution. Participants were postmenopausal women with osteopenia (n=124) who were randomized to consume either 50g DP/day (50g DP; n=46), 100g DP/day (100g DP; n=35), or no DP/day (control; n=46). At baseline, the women were 62.3 ± 0.5 years in age and had an average age of menopause of 50.7±0.4 years. Seventy-two percent of participants had no previous hormone therapy use. There were no significant differences between the intervention groups or control group at baseline. The aims of this study were to assess the relationship between a DP nutritional intervention, glucose metabolism, and body fat distribution. Fasting blood glucose increased by 3.5 mg/dL in the 50g DP group from baseline to 6-months (p=0.037), contrary to our hypothesis. Additionally, the absolute change over 12-months in fasting blood glucose was significantly different between 50g DP and 100g DP (p=0.009), with 50g DP group increasing by 4.1% and 100g DP group decreasing by 3.2%. Total android mass increased significantly in the entire cohort from baseline to 6-months (p=0.006). The 50g DP group had significantly higher visceral adiposity measurements (mass: p=0.036); volume: p=0.036; area: p=0.033), BMI (p=0.025), and

total body fat (p=0.019) compared to the control throughout the entire study. All measures of central adiposity were found to be significantly and positively correlated with 12-month fasting blood glucose, fasting blood insulin, and HOMA-IR (all p<0.001). Such findings indicate that while dried plum consumption does not result in a dose-dependent reduction in fasting blood glucose since the 50g DP group experienced an increase in fasting glucose, consuming a larger dosage of dried plums (i.e., 100g DP) may be beneficial to reduce fasting glucose in postmenopausal women. Despite an increase in glucose concentration throughout the intervention in the 50g DP group, glucose concentrations remained below a pre-diabetic threshold, and it is unlikely that postmenopausal women will be at an increased risk of MetS, T2DM, or CVD as a result of consuming a moderate amount of dried plums. As such, the 100g DP intervention may be a better supplement dosage than 50g in postmenopausal women as it demonstrated no adverse effects on glucose metabolism or insulin resistance.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES
LIST OF TABLES
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS vii
Chapter 1 Introduction
Dried Plum and Menopause-related Metabolic Abnormalities
Purpose of this Study
Aim and Hypothesis 1: Metabolic Markers
Aim and Hypothesis 2: Body Fat Distribution
Aim and Hypothesis 3: Adiposity and Glucose
Rationale for this Study
Expected Findings
Statistical Plan
Chapter 2 Literature Review
Introduction 11
Metabolic Consequences of Menonause 14
Dried Plum Phenolic Compounds
Phenolic Mechanistic Theories 20
Glucose and Lipid Metabolism 20
Antiovidant 22
Anti Inflammatory 23
Plum Interventions 24
Pat Models 24
Kat Mouths
Conclusion 27
Chapter 3 Methods
Study Design
Intervention
Participants
Anthropometrics and Demographics
Body Fat Distribution Analysis
Blood Chemistry
Blood Sampling and Storage
Statistical Analysis
Chapter 4 Manuscript
Abstract

Introduction	
Methods	
Study Design	
Intervention	40
Participants	40
Anthropometrics and Demographics	41
Body Fat Distribution Analysis	42
Blood Chemistry	42
Blood Sampling and Storage	43
Statistical Analysis	43
Results	45
Basic Demographics	45
Anthropometrics	45
Regional Body Composition	47
Blood Measures	49
Relating Blood Glucose, Insulin Resistance, and Central Adiposity	53
Discussion	55
Summary and Conclusion	59
hapter 5 Conclusion	62
IBLIOGRAPHY	65

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Mechanism by which menopause-related estrogen deficiency leads to metabolic syndrome, a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus	17
Figure 2. Phenolic compounds classifications.	18
Figure 3. Change in Glucose over 12-months	51
Figure 4. Absolute Change in Glucose Concentrations over 12-months.	52
Figure 5. Percent Change in Glucose over 12-months	53

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for MetS set by the National Cholesterol Education program- Third Adult Treatment Panel. 13
Table 2. Phenolic composition of fresh and dried plums (per 100g). 19
Table 3. Summary of Subject Demographics. 45
Table 4. Anthropometrics across 12-months. 46
Table 5. Percent Change in Anthropometrics across 12-months. 46
Table 6. Regional body composition across 12-months. 48
Table 7. Percent Change in Regional Body Composition49
Table 8. Blood Measures across 12-months. 50
Table 9. Percent Change in Blood Measures. 50
Table 10. Correlations between Central Adiposity and Blood Glucose, Insulin, and HOMA-IR. 54
Table 11. Linear Regression Model for Prediction of 12-month Glucose Concentration54

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This thesis could not have been possible without the unwavering support, guidance, and motivation provided to me by a wide support network that I have not recognized often enough. I cannot overstate my appreciation for everyone who has helped me along this journey.

To Dr. Mary Jane De Souza, thank you for showing me constant support ever since I came to your office hours freshman year. At a time when I felt like a very small fish in a very big pond, your words of affirmation and encouragement were crucial to my developing confidence. Throughout my time volunteering in the wet lab and preparing this thesis, you have never stopped showing me support, from writing numerous letters of recommendation to ordering insulin assays specifically for my project. Thank you so much for shaping my research experience into a valuable and rewarding journey.

To PhD. student Nicole Strock, thank you for answering my near endless thesis questions with patience and helpful advice. Throughout the entire writing process I was constantly amazed at how much time and effort you put towards helping me make this thesis great. Thank you so much for the sacrifice of time you made for me, from repeatedly assuring me that I was on track to finish to meticulously proofreading and making edits on my drafts.

To Dr. Alison Gernand, thank you for providing support and encouragement when I felt anxious about the entire writing process. Knowing I had you to turn to with concerns or questions was a real relief during the final weeks of frantic writing. Also, thank you for your guidance through the logistical process of final submission and for making the daunting task of finalization and submission clear and manageable.

vii

To my parents, thank you for all the opportunities you have provided me from going to Penn State, to pursuing research and numerous extracurriculars, to staying in State College for summer research. Thank you for calming me during over-the-phone meltdowns and constantly expressing confidence in me and my goals. I could not have accomplished writing an undergraduate honors thesis, or any other academic feat for that matter, without you.

Chapter 1

Introduction

Dried Plum and Menopause-related Metabolic Abnormalities

Menopause marks an important physiological change in a woman's life. The decrease in ovarian secretion of estrogen has widespread consequences beyond reproductive health. Estrogen deficiency during the postmenopausal time period leads to significant metabolic changes [1]. Indeed, metabolic disturbances including dyslipidemia, altered body fat distribution, and indicators of insulin resistance have all been shown to be associated with the menopause transition [2-5]. These changes have important implications in the risk of metabolic diseases for postmenopausal women [2-5].

Estrogen deficiency-related metabolic changes share many common features with the abnormal metabolic profile known as metabolic syndrome (MetS). Diagnosis of MetS requires the presence of at least three of the following five features: increased waist circumference, high triglycerides (TG), low high-density lipoprotein (HDL), hypertension, and hyperglycemia [6]. Menopause is associated with increased visceral body fat, low HDL, and hyperglycemia [2-5], and as such these commonalities imply that menopause may lead to MetS. MetS is a detrimental syndrome because it significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) [6]. Because CVD is the number one cause of death for women [4] and T2DM can lead to life threatening consequences, such as diabetic coma as well as increased risk of CVD [7], it is important to find therapies for postmenopausal women to improve the metabolic abnormalities that place them at risk for MetS and associated chronic diseases.

Menopause is associated with changes in body fat distribution, with postmenopausal women tending to store fat in the abdomen compared with premenopausal women [2, 4]. Specifically, visceral fat mass increases with menopause [2]. An increase in visceral fat mass is significant to health as visceral fat is related to pathological metabolic conditions, such as dysfunctional adipocytes, impaired insulin function, and excess lipids and inflammatory molecules exported into the blood [5, 8]. A study in postmenopausal women reported a strong positive relationship between visceral fat mass and insulin resistance [5]. Additionally, the increase in total fat mass that occurs as a function of age is also related to insulin resistance in postmenopausal women [5].

Dietary and lifestyle interventions have been observed to prevent progression to T2DM in patients with pre-diabetes, that is fasting glucose levels between 99 and 125 mg/dL [9, 10]. Modifications to diet and lifestyle are advantageous over pharmacological interventions as they are less expensive, do not cause side effects, and provide whole body health benefits beyond diabetes prevention. One such dietary intervention that is being investigated as a treatment for metabolic abnormalities is the consumption of plum products including fresh plums, plum concentrate, and dried plums.

In rat models, plum-derived products have shown promising impacts on indicators of metabolic health. In obese Zucker rats, plum juice consumption over 11 weeks prevented body weight gain [11]. Further, markers of MetS including blood glucose, insulin, and leptin were all reduced [11]. Additionally, plum juice improved dyslipidemia, as indicated by lowered plasma total cholesterol (TC) and TG, and reduced oxidation of low-density lipoprotein (LDL), as indicated by reduced thiobarbituric acid reactive substances in the rats [11]. In insulin-resistant Wistar fatty rats, plum concentrate (0.25% concentration in water) administered for 2 weeks was

shown to improve markers of insulin sensitivity, namely blood glucose and TG [12]. Following ovariectomy, female rats consuming a 25% dried plum diet did not experience the rise in LDL cholesterol typically observed in ovariectomy-induced estrogen deficiency [13].

Despite the promising research in animal models, research investigating the health benefits of dried plum in humans is limited. However, in healthy young men, 250 grams (g) of dried plum lowered insulin secretion after 22 days of consumption [13]. Another study in men reported lower LDL cholesterol after 4 weeks of dried plum consumption at a dose of 100g per day, compared to a 360mL per day grape juice intervention [13]. In postmenopausal women, markers of inflammation, namely lipid hydroperoxide and C-reactive protein, were reduced following consumption of 100g dried plum per day for 12 months, which may lower risk of CVD and T2DM [14].

Dried plums are commonly recognized for their health benefits related to gastrointestinal motility due to dietary fiber content [13]. However, dried plums provide more nutritional value than fiber alone; a key nutritional component of dried plums that impacts carbohydrate and lipid metabolism is dietary phenolics [11, 12]. Dried plums have a high antioxidant capacity due to their high levels of phenolic compounds, namely chlorogenic acid and neochlorogenic acid [15]. Dietary phenolics have been shown to lower various markers of metabolic health such as blood glucose, insulin resistance, oxidation, and inflammation in a variety of experimental models including rats, men, and postmenopausal women [11, 12, 14, 16].

Phenolics in plums improve carbohydrate and lipid metabolism by stimulating peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) expression which improves insulin sensitivity [11]. In the liver, phenolics stimulate PPAR α leading to a decrease in TG in the blood by promoting hepatic uptake of TG via hepatic lipoprotein lipase (LPL), hepatic uptake of nonesterified fatty acids, and subsequent fatty acid oxidation in the hepatocytes [12, 17]. Another anti-dyslipidemic effect of PPAR α activation is an increase in plasma HDL [17]. Current literature indicates PPAR α activation prevents development of T2DM in individuals with prediabetes [17]. In adipose tissue, phenolics upregulate PPAR γ which leads to increased secretion of adiponectin from adipocytes, increased flux of lipids from the liver and skeletal muscle to adipose tissue, and associated improved insulin sensitivity [12, 17]. In vascular cells, PPAR γ promotes insulin sensitivity when stimulated by phenolics [11]. The net effect of PPAR activation by phenolics is improved markers of metabolic health, specifically insulin sensitivity. Beyond PPAR activation, phenolics, namely chlorogenic acid, impact carbohydrate metabolism by inhibiting both intestinal absorption of glucose and hepatic glycogenolysis [13].

The phenolic profile of dried plums also imparts a high antioxidant capacity. Despite the loss of anthocyanins, a class of dietary phenolics [16], in the process of heating fresh plums to create dried plums, the antioxidant activity of dried plums is higher than that of fresh plums [15]. Phenolics protect against oxidative damage by promoting antioxidant enzymes, such as superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase [11]. Investigators have shown that the phenolics in dried plums protect against LDL oxidation [13], an inflammatory response which can lead to atherosclerosis [14]. Phenolics in dried plum have also been shown to lower lipid hydroperoxide, a marker of oxidative stress, in postmenopausal women [14].

Phenolics act as anti-inflammatory agents by inhibiting the production of inflammatory molecules [16]. As mentioned above, phenolics are PPAR agonists. PPARs produce anti-inflammatory effects by both inhibiting inflammatory cytokine production and promoting the expression of anti-inflammatory genes [17]. In the study of obese Zucker rats mentioned above, plum juice reduced levels of inflammatory cytokines in rat hearts [11]. In postmenopausal

women, dried plum intervention has been shown to lower C-reactive protein (CRP), a marker of inflammation [14].

Dried plum phenolics improve markers of metabolic health through multiple mechanisms, including PPAR upregulation, antioxidant activity, and anti-inflammatory activity [11-14]. Improving insulin sensitivity is a key feature of dried plum phenolic compounds, as insulin resistance interacts with multiple risk factors for T2DM and CVD [6, 7]. Insulin resistance is the factor that ties abnormal adipocyte function to clinical effects, including hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia [6, 18]. Because menopause is associated with many of the same metabolic abnormalities observed in insulin resistance, dried plum could be a viable intervention for improving risk factors of T2DM and CVD in postmenopausal women.

Purpose of this Study

The purpose of this study was to quantify the effect of a 12-month dried plum nutritional intervention in postmenopausal women with osteopenia/osteoporosis aged 55-75 consuming either 50g (6 dried plums/day) or 100g (12 dried plums/day) of dried plum daily on metabolic disease risk factors including fasting blood glucose, insulin, HOMA-IR, and indicators of central adiposity.

Aim and Hypothesis 1: Metabolic Markers

Aim: To determine the effects of a 12-month intervention of consuming dried plums on fasting blood glucose concentration and HOMA-IR in postmenopausal women with

osteopenia/osteoporosis consuming 50g dried plums/day, 100g dried plums/day, or no plums (control group).

Hypothesis 1A: Following the 12-month intervention, postmenopausal women consuming either 50g or 100g dried plums/day will have a greater reduction (from baseline values) in fasting blood glucose, compared to the control group.

Hypothesis 1B: Following the 12-month intervention, HOMA-IR will be lower in postmenopausal women consuming either 50g or 100g dried plums/day compared to the control group.

Aim and Hypothesis 2: Body Fat Distribution

Aim: To determine the effects of a 12-month intervention of consuming dried plums on DXA measures of central adiposity (visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android regional fat mass, android to gynoid percent fat ratio) in postmenopausal women with osteopenia/osteoporosis consuming 50g dried plums/day, 100g dried plums/day, or no plums (control group).

Hypothesis 2A: Following the 12-month intervention, central adiposity, as estimated by visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, and android regional fat mass, will be lower in postmenopausal women consuming either 50g or 100g dried plums/day compared to the control group.

Hypothesis 2B: Following the 12-month intervention, android to gynoid percent fat ratio will be lower in postmenopausal women consuming either 50g or 100g dried plums/day compared to the control group.

Aim and Hypothesis 3: Adiposity and Glucose

Aim: To determine the effects of central adiposity on 12-month fasting blood glucose in postmenopausal women participating in a 12-month intervention of consuming 50g dried plums/day, 100g dried plums/day, or no plums (control group).

Hypothesis 3A: Baseline central adiposity will be predictive of 12-month fasting blood glucose, independent of treatment group.

Hypothesis 3B: Fasting blood glucose and HOMA-IR will be positively correlated with central adiposity.

Rationale for this Study

T2DM and CVD are major health concerns for postmenopausal women [4, 7]. Changes in body fat distribution, which reflect metabolic alterations that occur in conjunction with menopause place women at increased risk for MetS, which significantly increases risk of T2DM and CVD [1-5]. It is therefore important to investigate potential treatments that target metabolic abnormalities of MetS.

The current research on dried plum as a potential nutraceutical therapy for metabolic abnormalities is extremely limited. Much of the existing literature describes studies on rat models. Furthermore, of the studies using human models, even fewer investigate a postmenopausal population of women. Further, many investigators use an intervention of a plum product, but often not specifically dried plum. Fresh plum, plum juice, and plum concentrate are common interventions found in the existing literature. While similar in nutrient profile to dried plums, fresh plums have key differences in the phenolic composition, most notably the presence of anthocyanins, a class of phenolics which are absent in dried plums [15].

Evaluating the effectiveness of dried plum at promoting metabolic health could lead to clinical use of dried plum as a treatment for dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia secondary to menopause. Nutraceutical therapies offer patients an alternative to pharmaceutical therapy, with advantages including whole body benefits beyond the intended metabolic and body composition targets. Dried plum is recognized for its impact on bone health, which is important for postmenopausal women as they are at an increased risk for osteoporosis [19]. Additionally, using alternative strategies to drug therapy can avoid unwanted side effects. For these combined reasons, dried plum has potential to become a recognized "superfood" for promoting health and wellbeing in postmenopausal women.

Expected Findings

It was expected that dried plum dietary interventions would lower fasting blood glucose. Dietary phenolics consumed during dried plum intervention are associated with improved insulin sensitivity and therefore lower fasting blood glucose [11]. In the current study, we expected that the 100g dried plums/day group would have the lowest fasting blood glucose, while the control group (no dried plums) would have the highest fasting blood glucose after the 12-month dietary intervention.

Central body fat was also expected to be reduced by dried plum dietary interventions. Dietary phenolics consumed during dried plum interventions are associated with preventing body weight gain [11]. We expected that the 100g dried plum/day group would have the lowest central body fat, while the control group (no dried plums) would have the highest fasting blood glucose after the 12-month dietary intervention.

Finally, a positive correlation between fasting blood glucose and central body fat was expected when dried plums are consumed. Similarly, a positive correlation between HOMA-IR and central body fat was also expected. Body fat mass is associated with insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women [1]. Visceral fat mass, in particular, is associated with insulin sensitivity [5].

Statistical Plan

Specific Aim 1

- i. Hypothesis 1A: A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA will be conducted to compare
 12-month treatment effect on fasting blood glucose. A one-way ANOVA will be
 conducted to compared treatment effect on pre-to-post change in fasting blood glucose.
- ii. Hypothesis 1B: A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA will be conducted to compare
 12-month treatment effect on HOMA-IR. A one-way ANOVA will be conducted to
 compared treatment effect on pre-to-post change in HOMA-IR.

Specific Aim 2

i. Hypothesis 2A: A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA will be conducted to compare
 12-month treatment effect on central adiposity variables (visceral adipose tissue mass,
 visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android regional fat mass). A

one-way ANOVA will be conducted to compared treatment effect on pre-to-post change in central adiposity variables.

ii. Hypothesis 2B: A one-way repeated-measures ANOVA will be conducted to compare12-month treatment effect on android/gynoid percent fat ratio.

Specific Aim 3

- i. Hypothesis 3A: Linear regression will be conducted to determine whether baseline central adiposity is a significant predictor of 12-month fasting blood glucose.
- ii. Hypothesis 3B: Pearson's correlation will be conducted to test the relationship between central adiposity, HOMA-IR, and 12-month fasting blood glucose.

Chapter 2

Literature Review

Introduction

Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM) is a metabolic disease in which muscle, adipose, and liver cells become resistant to the hormone insulin, leading to elevated blood glucose (i.e., hyperglycemia), and can ultimately lead to health complications if left untreated. T2DM presents a major public health concern as it is widespread and leads to serious health conditions [7, 20]. According to the 2017 National Diabetes Statistics report, over 100 million Americans have diabetes [21]. T2DM can lead to serious, acute complications such as diabetic ketoacidosis and diabetic coma, as well as chronic cardiovascular diseases (CVD), including coronary heart disease, stroke, peripheral artery disease, cardiomyopathy, and congestive heart failure [20].

T2DM is clinically observed as hyperglycemia and differs from other types of diabetes in that the etiology of hyperglycemia is insulin resistance [20]. Insulin is a signaling hormone produced by the beta cells of pancreas in response to a rise in blood glucose. In a condition of adequate insulin sensitivity, hyperglycemia (such as that which occurs after a meal) is corrected by the action of insulin stimulating peripheral cells, such as liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose tissue, to remove glucose from the blood through transmembrane glucose transporter type 4 (GLUT4) proteins [22, 23]. However, in cases of insulin resistance, insulin signaling does not stimulate GLUT4 translocation into the peripheral cell membrane, or stimulation does not result in successful glucose removal from the blood, ultimately creating a situation of uncontrolled hyperglycemia [23]. At the beginning of disease progression, pancreatic insulin production is uninhibited and even elevated to meet the rising need for insulin by increasingly resistant peripheral cells [20]. Over time, the pancreas becomes unable to continuously meet the high demand for insulin to maintain glucose homeostasis. Criteria for diagnosis of T2DM include a fasting plasma glucose of \geq 126 mg/dL or a random plasma glucose of \geq 200 mg/dL [20]. During the early stages of insulin resistance, the clinical criteria for T2DM are not met, meaning patients can be unknowingly incurring health consequences such as vascular damage from chronic hyperglycemia [20]. Indeed, hallmark symptoms of T2DM, including polyuria, polydipsia, polyphagia, and weight loss, do not present until the late stages of disease progression [20]. As insulin resistance alone can lead to detrimental consequences and is present in approximately 20-25% of the nondiabetic population, it constitutes a considerable public health concern independent of T2DM [3].

A cluster of abnormalities, known as metabolic syndrome (MetS), often precedes onset of T2DM [17] and diagnosis of MetS requires at least three of the following five abnormalities: increased waist circumference, high triglycerides (TG), low high-density lipoproteins (HDL), hypertension, and hyperglycemia [6], as seen in Table 1. Each of these factors are related to insulin resistance, either as a cause or consequence. Obesity, particularly the accumulation of visceral fat within the abdominal cavity, often crudely quantified using waist circumference, can lead to insulin resistance via chronic inflammation and dyslipidemia, which includes high TG and low HDL [8, 11, 18]. Further, insulin resistance leads to low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation, impaired antioxidant activity, and vascular damage and dysfunction, which may lead to hypertension and CVD [11]. Additionally, abnormalities in the levels of insulin (hyperinsulinemia), glucose (hyperglycemia), cholesterol (high TG and low HDL), and leptin are associated with insulin resistance [8, 11]. The combination of these related pathological

conditions is known as MetS and is associated with a 5x greater risk for T2DM and 3x greater risk for CVD [6].

Risk Factor	Cut off Value
Waist Circumference	>40" (male), >35" (female)
Triglycerides	$\geq 150 \text{ mg/dL}$
High-density lipoprotein	<40 mg/dL (male), <50 mg/dL (female)
Blood pressure	>130/85 mmHg
Fasting plasma glucose	$\geq 110 \text{ mg/dL}$

Table 1. Diagnostic criteria for MetS set by the National Cholesterol Educationprogram- Third Adult Treatment Panel.

Table derived from [8].

Many Americans are at risk for diabetes or already have prediabetes, defined as impaired fasting glucose: 100-125 mg/dL [20, 21]. Prevention of diabetes is a major public health priority due to its widespread incidence and serious clinical complications. The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group found that lifestyle changes, including healthy eating and exercise habits, to be the most effective strategy for preventing the development of diabetes in high-risk individuals [9, 10, 24]. Postmenopausal women constitute one such population at an elevated risk for insulin resistance, T2DM, and CVD [2, 3, 5, 25]. Therefore, the potential for lifestyle interventions such as dietary changes to prevent insulin resistance and diabetes in postmenopausal women requires investigation.

Metabolic Consequences of Menopause

Metabolic changes associated with the menopause transition create a metabolic profile similar to that of MetS, which may indicate that women have an increased risk for developing insulin resistance, T2DM, and CVD during the postmenopausal time period. Menopause is characterized by a decrease in ovarian secretion of estrogen, in which the resulting estrogen deficiency has pervasive consequences beyond reproductive health [4]. Pathological metabolic conditions including altered body fat distribution, dyslipidemia, and inflammation are associated with both insulin resistance and the menopause transition [2-5], suggesting a possible relationship between menopause and insulin resistance.

Menopause is associated with changes in body fat distribution, such that postmenopausal women tend to store more fat in the abdomen compared to premenopausal women [2, 4]. Multiple investigators using dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) have found a significant increase in central adiposity in postmenopausal women compared to premenopausal women [2], which not only supports the understanding that menopause is associated with a change in fat distribution to favor abdominal adiposity, but also indicates that DXA is a useful measurement technique for assessing fat distribution in postmenopausal women. Studies in which computed tomography and magnetic resonance imaging were used to assess the specifics of abdominal fat distribution indicated that intra-abdominal, or visceral fat, in particular increases with menopause [2]. An increase in visceral fat mass poses a health concern as visceral fat is related to pathological metabolic conditions, such as increased waist circumference, dysfunctional adipocytes, impaired insulin function, and excess lipids and inflammatory molecules exported into the blood [5, 8]. Indeed, it has been found in postmenopausal women that altered body fat distribution was associated with dyslipidemia [1]. Further, total fat mass, which increases during

the menopause transition as a function of age, is positively associated with insulin resistance indicators in postmenopausal women [1, 5]. As such, visceral fat mass is closely associated with MetS and insulin resistance. Two key pathways by which visceral fat relates to metabolic disease are impaired lipid metabolism and chronic inflammation.

Dyslipidemia, a result of impaired lipid metabolism, has been frequently observed in postmenopausal women; specifically, elevated total cholesterol (TC), LDL, and TG, as well as decreased HDL are associated with menopause [3]. A study comparing postmenopausal and perimenopausal women to premenopausal women showed a significant increase in TC and LDL, and a significant decrease in HDL in perimenopausal and postmenopausal women, which are factors of MetS [3]. Further, body fat percent, which increases during the menopause transition as a function of age, is positively correlated with dyslipidemia [1]. Expanded visceral fat mass contributes to impaired lipid metabolism, as it causes an increase in lipids exported into the blood. The resulting dyslipidemia can lead to ectopic lipid deposition, or the accumulation of lipids in the liver and muscle tissue [5]. Ectopic lipid deposition is a pathological consequence of impaired lipid metabolism which predicts insulin resistance in postmenopausal women [5]. In addition to altering blood lipid levels, visceral fat also causes systemic inflammation.

Chronic low-grade inflammation is associated with MetS, obesity, insulin resistance, T2DM, and CVD [8, 17]. Excess adipose tissue, particularly visceral fat, is associated with increased plasma concentrations of inflammatory cytokines including C-reactive protein (CRP), tumor necrosis factor (TNF- α), and interleukin-6 (IL-6) [8]. It has been well established that these inflammatory cytokines predict T2DM [26]. TNF- α has been observed to directly impact the cellular insulin signaling pathway in rodents, resulting in insulin resistance [8]. IL-6 secretion also impairs insulin function and may have significant impacts on the liver, including stimulating CRP production and increasing hepatic lipid export into the blood, altering blood lipid levels [8]. Elevated CRP plasma concentration is clinically relevant as CRP functions in inflammatory cytokine release and oxidative stress [3], and is positively associated with various disease states including CVD and T2DM [14]. Such findings indicate that alterations in inflammatory cytokines related to visceral fat mass are detrimental to health. In a study comparing postmenopausal and perimenopausal women to premenopausal women, researchers found an increase in TNF- α and IL-1 (a cytokine in the same family as IL-6) in postmenopausal women, and an increase in CRP in both perimenopausal and postmenopausal women, indicating increasing inflammation during the menopause transition [3]. Further, in postmenopausal women, body fat percent is positively correlated with the inflammatory cytokines CRP and IL-6 [1]. Therefore, inflammation caused by the increase visceral fat represents a major causal factor in the development of insulin resistance, MetS, and T2DM in postmenopausal women.

Estrogen deficiency resulting from menopause causes a complex cascade of interrelated physiological effects, many of which are pathological. Figure 1 describes the mechanisms by which menopause-related estrogen deficiency can lead to the metabolic abnormalities of MetS (identified by blue boxes within the green dashed region) via an increase in visceral fat mass which leads to dyslipidemia and inflammation. These consequences then increase insulin resistance which results in worsened dyslipidemia, hypertension, and hyperglycemia. MetS may then progress to diseases including T2DM and CVD.



Figure 1. Mechanism by which menopause-related estrogen deficiency leads to metabolic syndrome, a risk factor for cardiovascular disease and type 2 diabetes mellitus.

Dried Plum Phenolic Compounds

The Diabetes Prevention Program Research Group found promoting lifestyle changes, including healthy eating and exercise habits to be the most effective strategy for preventing the development of diabetes in high-risk individuals [9, 10, 24]. One possible dietary intervention to prevent insulin resistance and T2DM in post-menopausal women is the addition of phenolic compounds to the diet.

Phenolics are compounds produced by plants as a byproduct of metabolism. In the plant, phenolics function in growth and protection from radiation damage [16]. The term phenolic covers a broad range of molecules that possess the common the ability to neutralize reactive oxygen species (ROS) [27]. Due to the deleterious effects of ROS accumulation, including damage to crucial compounds such as DNA, proteins, and lipids, neutralization of these potent

oxidizers is important for cell health [27]. The antioxidant capacity of phenolics proves beneficial to human health when such compounds are consumed in the diet [28]. Some of the classes of phenolics include phenolic acids, flavonoids, stilbenes, coumarins, lignins, and tannins; the relationship of which is demonstrated in Figure 2 [16].



Figure 2. Phenolic compounds classifications.

^a Primary phenolics in dried plums. ^b Absent in dried plums. ^c Small quantities in dried plums.

Foods that provide a high amount of phenolics include fruits, such as blueberries and plums [13]. Dried plums are particularly high in certain phenolic acids, namely neochlorogenic acid and chlorogenic acid [13]. Of note is the difference in phenolic profile between fresh plums and dried plums. Though fresh plums are high in anthocyanins, the drying process destroys these compounds, leaving nearly zero anthocyanins in dried plums [15]. Because of the drying process, the estimates in Table 2 suggest 100g of dried plum provides a more concentrated dosage of phenolics per unit mass, and do not indicate a synthesis of new phenolics [13]. In a

separate study conducted by Piga et al. [15], the drying process was found to decrease the total phenolic content, but increase the total antioxidant capacity of the plum.

Phenolic Compound	Fresh plum	Dried plum
Neochlorogenic acid	81mg	131mg
Chlorogenic acid	14.4mg	44mg
Anthocyanins	7.6mg	

Table 2. Phenolic composition of fresh and dried plums (per 100g).

Table derived from [24].

Chlorogenic acid (5-O-caffeoylquinic acid), a key phenolic compound in dried plums, is known for its antioxidant capacity and has additionally been studied as an anti-inflammatory, antilipidemic, antidiabetic, and antihypertensive compound, which suggests it is a promising compound for combating MetS [28]. Investigators conducting rat studies have shown that chlorogenic acid favorably impacts body weight, visceral fat mass, plasma insulin, plasma free fatty acids, TG, TC, LDL, HDL, fasting plasma glucose, insulin sensitivity, hypertension, and ectopic lipid deposition [28]. Researchers studying a population of overweight men found that chlorogenic acid improved insulin sensitivity [29]. A clinical study in adults with MetS suggested that the supplement Kepar, which contains chlorogenic acid, reduced body weight, waist circumference, fasting glucose, and TC [30]. Chlorogenic acid may also improve glucose metabolism by inhibiting the intestinal absorption of glucose [16, 28]. The closely related isomer neochlorogenic acid (3-O-caffeoylquinic acid), which also contributes significantly to the phenolic profile of dried plums, was shown to have similar antioxidant activity to chlorogenic acid [27]. It is important to note that when ingesting chlorogenic acid in the context of dried plums, digestion and absorption of the whole food matrix affects the profile of phenolic

compounds that enter the body [28]. When unabsorbed chlorogenic acid reaches the colon, the gut microbiome metabolizes the compounds to other phenolic metabolites, which may be absorbed and propagate benefits to metabolic health independently of chlorogenic and neochlorogenic acid [28].

Phenolic Mechanistic Theories

While dietary phenolics have been shown in animal studies to lower blood glucose and decrease insulin resistance, thereby decreasing the risk of developing T2DM [11], the mechanism by which phenolics improve insulin sensitivity is a developing field of research. Studies recently have investigated phenolics as peroxisome-proliferator-activated receptor (PPAR) agonists, antioxidants, and anti-inflammatory agents, described below.

Glucose and Lipid Metabolism

Insulin resistance reflects abnormal metabolism of carbohydrates and lipids in tissues such as the liver, skeletal muscle, and adipose. One mode by which phenolics improve insulin sensitivity is by modulating lipid metabolism via PPAR activation. PPAR is a transcription factor in the cell nucleus that promotes the expression of insulin sensitizing genes, and functions to regulate metabolism through monitoring lipid levels from the diet, de-novo lipogenesis, and lipolysis [17]. PPARs are classified into three different subcategories, PPAR α , PPAR β , and PPAR γ . For the purpose of this review, the actions of PPAR α and PPAR γ in metabolically active tissues, specifically liver and adipose, will be discussed.

In the liver, PPAR α improves dyslipidemia and insulin sensitivity by promoting the action of lipoprotein lipase, an enzyme that hydrolyzes TG carried by LDL and other lipoproteins to allow fatty acids to enter the hepatocyte, thereby decreasing the high plasma TG concentrations characteristic of dyslipidemia [12, 28]. Once TG enter the hepatocyte, PPAR α promotes the breakdown of fatty acids for energy production, through a process called βoxidation [28]. The net energetic effect of PPARa activation is the dissipation of stored lipid energy within hepatocytes, or the utilization of the energy in lipids [17]. The PPAR α -stimulated removal of lipids improves dyslipidemia which can subsequently correct abnormal cellular lipid and carbohydrate utilization characteristic of insulin resistance. This has been demonstrated by investigators using PPARα agonist interventions to improve in dyslipidemia in MetS [17]. Specifically, trials such as the Helsinki Heart Study [31], Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Intervention Trial [32], Benzofibrate Infarction Prevention [33], Fenofibrate Intervention and Event Lowering in Diabetes [34], and Action to Control Cardiovascular Risk in Diabetes [35] have demonstrated that use of fibrates, synthetic PPAR α agonists, favorably impacted dyslipidemia [17]. Additionally, through mechanisms involving the pancreas and insulin clearance, PPAR α activation has been shown to improve glucose handling in prediabetics, preventing progression to T2DM [17].

In adipose tissue, PPAR γ promotes export of adiponectin to the circulation and controls fatty acid flux [17]. Adiponectin is a cytokine associated with improved insulin sensitivity and negatively correlated with T2DM and abdominal adiposity [8, 12]. Adiponectin exerts antilipogenic and anti-glucogenic effects on the liver, which may be a mechanism for improving insulin sensitivity [8]. Additionally, PPAR γ shifts the flux of fatty acids away from the liver and skeletal muscle, preventing lipotoxicity and allowing the tissues to transition from lipid energy utilization to glucose energy utilization thereby increasing glucose utilization and uptake, and improving glucose homeostasis and insulin sensitivity [17]. The pancreatic beta cells are also protected from lipotoxicity by this mechanism [17]. The net energetic effect of PPAR γ activation is the sequestering of lipid energy in adipose, or the removal and storage of lipids in fat tissue to prevent both accumulation of lipids in the blood, and excessive lipid utilization in the liver and skeletal muscle [17]. PPAR γ agonists have been shown to improve insulin sensitivity and glucose handling, but also increase body weight as a result of the increasing store of lipids in adipose [17]. However, one important deleterious effect resulting from pharmacologic PPAR γ activation is impaired bone turnover due to increased formation of osteoclasts and decreased formation of osteoblasts, which is relevant to this population as postmenopausal women are at an increased risk for osteopenia/osteoporosis [17, 19].

The differential metabolic effects of PPAR α , a promoter of lipid energy dissipation in the liver, and PPAR γ , a promoter of lipid energy sequestering in adipose tissue, may appear to conflict, but in fact the actions of the two operate in a balance which improves lipid and glucose metabolism [17]. The ability of phenolic compounds to stimulate both PPAR α and PPAR γ could therefore protect against the development of insulin resistance MetS, T2DM, and CVD.

Antioxidant

Phenolic compounds are most commonly recognized for their antioxidant properties. Antioxidant capacity refers to the ability of phenolics, chlorogenic acid isomers in particular, to neutralize ROS to prevent cellular damage [27]. Phenolics reduce free radical ROS by donating a hydrogen atom to the unstable radical [27, 36], thereby preventing damage to cellular structures like DNA or lipid membranes, as well as alleviating oxidative stress.

Oxidative stress, which results from ROS activity, is associated with multiple facets of MetS including obesity and hyperglycemia [28]. Obesity leads to oxidative stress in adipose tissue which increases production of inflammatory cytokines [37]. Additionally, hyperglycemia creates oxidative stress via auto-oxidation of glucose which yields ROS [38]. This oxidative stress from ROS, obesity, and hyperglycemia causes LDL oxidation (the beginning stage of atherosclerotic plaque formation), and abnormal levels of plasma insulin and plasma glucose due to insulin resistance and decreased beta cell insulin secretion [11, 12, 14, 37, 38].

The antioxidant capacity of phenolics has been demonstration both in vitro and in vivo [36]. Xu et al. demonstrated the antioxidant effects of chlorogenic acid, through chemical assays that monitored the radical scavenging, or neutralizing, ability of different chlorogenic acid isomers [27]. Wistar rats with hyperglycemia-induced oxidative stress were found to have lower levels of lipid hydroperoxide, an indicator of oxidative stress, following a 45 day treatment of chlorogenic acid administered orally [38]. Because oxidative stress is associated with multiple facets of MetS [28] and is observed in T2DM [38], the antioxidant capacity of phenolics could play a role in preventing or correcting insulin resistance, MetS, T2DM, and CVD. Consumption of dietary phenolics may therefore reduce these problems through preventing oxidative stress.

Anti-Inflammatory

Another consequence of PPAR activation is a downregulation in the expression of proinflammatory genes and an upregulation in the expression of anti-inflammatory genes [17]. PPARα and PPARγ each combat inflammation, likely in an independent manner [17]. In adipose, PPARγ directly inhibits production of pro-inflammatory cytokines, while simultaneously indirectly preventing inflammation by increasing plasma adiponectin and thereby reducing TNF- α secretion by macrophages in the adipose [17]. Beyond the effects in adiposerelated macrophages, PPAR expression in the vascular walls also combats inflammation [17]. The antioxidant activity of phenolics mentioned above may also reduce inflammation [28]. By disrupting inflammatory cytokines production, PPAR activation via phenolic compounds can improve insulin sensitivity. Therefore, the anti-inflammatory properties of phenolic compounds represents another pathway by which dietary phenolics can combat the deleterious effects, including insulin resistance, MetS, T2DM, and CVD, of adipose-related chronic inflammation [28].

Plum Interventions

The current state of the literature includes studies in both rat and human models using a variety of plum product interventions including plum juice, plum juice concentrate, fresh plums, and dried plums. The specific intervention methods and relevant key findings are discussed below.

Rat Models

A study conducted by Noratto et al. [11], assessed the effect of plum juice administered ad libitum on obese Zucker rats for 11 weeks. The control group consisted of obese Zucker rats that consumed a glucose-matched sugar water ad libitum in place of plum juice. Investigators found that plum juice consumption inhibited multiple factors associated with MetS: weight gain, plasma glucose increase, plasma insulin increase, dyslipidemia, hepatic lipid deposition; plum juice conversely increased levels of mRNA for PPAR γ in heart tissue, as compared with control rats.

Further support for the benefits of plum juice products was found by Utsunomiya et al. [12] who assessed the effect of diluted plum-ekisu, or plum juice concentrate, administered as 0.25% concentration on Wistar fatty rats for 2 weeks. Investigators found that plum-ekisu prevented an increase in TC, TG, glucose-insulin index; treatment also led to an increase in adiponectin and PPAR γ mRNA in liver tissue, as compared to the control Wistar fatty rats that were provided water in place of plum-ekisu [12]. Additionally, in an oral glucose tolerance test and intraperitoneal insulin tolerance test, plum-ekisu treated rats displayed better insulin sensitivity than control rats. Together, Noratto et al. [11] and Utsunomiya et al. [12] provide compelling evidence for the utility of plum juice products in treating MetS.

Beyond plum drink interventions, dried plum has also been investigated in rat trials. A study conducted by Lucas et al. [39] assessed the effect of dried plums on serum cholesterol in ovariectomized female Sprague-Dawley rats. This rat population models the condition of menopause-related estrogen deficiency. The intervention consisted of either 5% (low dose) or 25% (high dose) of the normal diet substituted with powdered prunes consumed ad libitum for 45 days, while the control consumed no prunes in the casein-based diet. Ovariectomized rats consuming a high dose dried plum experienced no significant increase in TC; the low dose dried plum group experienced an attenuated increase in TC, as compared to the control group which modeled menopause-related estrogen deficiency. These results suggest dried plum in the diet

may be beneficial in treating hypercholesterolemia during the postmenopausal time period in women.

Human Clinical Trials

Further evidence of the benefits of plum products has been observed in human clinical trials. In humans, plum products have been shown to improve antioxidant capacity, lipid levels, inflammation, and hypertension. González-Flores et al. [40] administered 390g fresh whole plum/day for five days to 6 young, 6 middle-age, and 6 elderly participants and assessed antioxidant activity via colorimetric assay kit. The investigators observed in all age groups a significant increase in antioxidant activity after plum intervention relative to baseline. Though these findings are favorable regarding antioxidant outcomes, they do not necessarily indicate that dried plum will have the same outcome as the phenolic profile of dried plums differs from fresh plums [15].

Dried plums in specific have been shown to favorably impact lipid levels, improving dyslipidemia. A study conducted by Tinker et al. [41] assessed the effect of a 100g dried plum/day dietary intervention in mildly hypercholesterolemic men on plasma LDL after four weeks. Investigators found that dried plum intervention significantly decreased LDL from the control value obtained after 4 weeks of grape juice intervention [41]. This investigation, however, did not assess dried plum effects in the context of menopause-related estrogen deficiency.

Favorable effects of dried plum have also been demonstrated in postmenopausal women. Chai et al. [14] administered a 100g dried plum/day intervention to postmenopausal women for a period of 12 months. Dried plum was intended to be the control in this study, with the intervention of interest being dried apple consumption. Dried plum was shown to reduce TC and LDL, but not to a statistically significant extent. Dried plum did significantly lower serum CRP as early as 3 months, indicating decreased inflammation. Lipid hydroperoxide, an indicator of oxidative stress, also was reduced, indicating an antioxidant effect of dried plums in postmenopausal women.

Ahmed et al. [42] found further evidence of anti-dyslipidemic effects of dried plums, in addition to anti-hypertensive effects. They assessed the effect of 8 weeks of consuming soaked dried plums, either a single dose of three plums or a double dose of six plums, in prehypertensive patients on blood pressure and serum lipids. The single dose alone reduced blood pressure. Both dried plum doses also reduced TC and LDL significantly. These findings indicate that dried plums can improve multiple disorders characteristic of MetS, but the generalizability of this finding to postmenopausal women may not be appropriate.

Conclusion

Postmenopausal women are at risk for serious health consequences due to decreased estrogen secretion, including MetS and T2DM, a key feature of which is insulin resistance. It is therefore important to explore potential clinical interventions to prevent this disease progression following the menopause transition. Dietary phenolics, which are abundant in dried plums, show potential as a protective nutraceutical therapy to prevent insulin resistance in postmenopausal women. Plum products and dietary phenolics in general have already been shown to have positive impacts on metabolic markers in both rat models and clinical studies. However, to our
knowledge no study has investigated fasting blood glucose and insulin resistance outcomes following a dried plum intervention in postmenopausal women with osteopenia. Dried plums show promise in improving bone mineral density in postmenopausal women and the potential for a secondary benefit to glucose metabolism would further support the benefits of consuming dried plums for this population.

Chapter 3

Methods

Study Design

This study was a randomized controlled trial of a dried plum nutritional intervention in postmenopausal women with osteopenia or osteoporosis (n=124). The trial period was 12 months and the intervention groups were 50g dried plums/day (50g DP), 100g dried plums/day (100g DP), and a control group of no dried plums/day (control). Outcome variables were assessed at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months. Various bone health markers were assessed for the primary goals of the study. For this secondary analysis, outcome variables of interest included weight, BMI, fat mass, lean mass, percent body fat, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat, gynoid fat mass, gynoid total mass, gynoid percent fat, android/gynoid glucose, cholesterol, high density lipoproteins (HDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL), insulin, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR). Exploration of correlations between central adiposity measurements and blood glucose was also assessed. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA.

For this thesis, I not only analyzed body composition and blood chemistry outcomes of the parent dried plum study, but also ran insulin assays specific to this project. I prepared serum samples from the study for immunoassay analysis of insulin concentration and operated the IMMULITE 1000 analyzer, as described below.

Intervention

Initial screening period was followed by a 1-2 week Baseline Period, after which participants were randomized into one of three intervention groups: 1) control group who received 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily, 2) 50g/day plus 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily (roughly 6 dried plums), or 3) 100g/day plus 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily (roughly 12 dried plums). Dried plums were consumed in divided doses three times per day. Dried plums were provided to the two DP groups monthly for the study duration. A 2-week run-in period for the consumption of 50g and 100g of dried plums was followed by all participants to minimize gastro-intestinal issues during initiation of therapy (details below). If necessary, some participants required extra time to adjust their gastrointestinal system to the increased consumption of dried plums, as an additional run-in time of up to two weeks. Compliance was monitored by urinary total phenolic levels and daily records of dried plum and supplement consumption.

Participants

Women were included if they were postmenopausal; aged 55 to 75 years; not severely obese (BMI <35 kg/m²); healthy (determined by a screening questionnaire, complete metabolic panel); willing to include dried plums in their daily diet; not taking any natural dietary supplement containing phenolics, ate < 1 cup/day of blueberries or apples for at least 2 months prior to study entry; non-smoking; ambulatory; and low BMD as measured by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Eligible BMD values (T-scores) for DXA measures of the lumbar spine, total hip and/or femoral neck corresponded to T-scores between 0 and -3.0.

Exclusion Criteria: Women who regularly consumed dried plums, dried apples, prune juice, or heavy consumers of blueberries (1 cup or more/day); vitamin D deficiency (<20 ng/mL); history of vertebral fracture or fragility fracture of the wrist, humerus, hip or pelvis after age 50 yr); untreated hyper- or hypothyroidism; current hyper- or hypoparathyroidism; significantly impaired renal function; current hypo- or hypercalcemia; history of spinal stenosis; history of heart attack, stroke, thromboembolism, kidney disease, malabsorption syndrome, seizure disorders; positive for HIV, Hep-C or Hep-B surface antigen and malignancy. Use of the following agents affecting bone metabolism were also exclusion criteria: intravenous bisphosphonates at any time; fluoride (for osteoporosis) within the past 24 months; denosumab at any time; bisphosphonates, parathyroid hormone or strontium within the past 12 months; calcitonin; selective estrogen receptor modulators within the past 12 months; systemic oral or transdermal estrogen within the past 3 months; systemic glucocorticosteroids (\geq 5 mg prednisone equivalent per day for more than 10 days); or tibolone within the past 3 months. Finally, participants who would not consume the study therapy or would not stop taking natural product supplements of their own selection were excluded.

Anthropometrics and Demographics

Participants completed demographic, reproductive, and medical history questionnaires which include questions regarding use of supplements, prescription medications, and NSAIDs, history of weight, purposeful physical activity, and dietary practices [42]. Responses were used to determine if eligibility requirements were met. Physical exams including height, weight, and BMI were conducted prior to study entry (screening) to ensure that participants were in good health and assessment of medical history and blood screening tests were used to ensure that participants have no contraindications to the consumption of dried plums. Total body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg on a physician's scale (Seca, Model 770, Hamburg, Germany). Height was measured by stadiometer at the beginning of the study (baseline). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight/height squared (kg/m²). Following, the screening/baseline appointments, body weight was monitored at monthly study visits; the baseline, 6-month, and 12-month body weights will be presented herein.

Body Fat Distribution Analysis

DXA was utilized at screening/baseline, and the 6- and 12-month visits for assessment of body composition, specifically fat mass, lean mass, percent body fat, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat, gynoid fat mass, gynoid total mass, gynoid percent fat, android/gynoid mass ratio, estimated visceral adipose mass, estimated visceral adipose volume, estimated visceral adipose area. Central adiposity variables included visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat. An International Society of Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) certified technician performed and analyzed all DXA scans on a Hologic QDR4500W DXA scanner (Hologic, Bedford, MA).

Blood Chemistry

At baseline, 6-month, and 12-month visits, a morning blood draw following an overnight fast was collected for measurement and analysis. A comprehensive metabolic panel, including

fasting blood glucose, and a standard lipid panel, including total cholesterol, HDL, and LDL were analyzed by Quest Diagnostics (Secaucus, NJ). Fasting blood insulin was analyzed by Immulite solid-phase, enzyme-labeled chemiluminescent immunometric assay. This assay analyzes insulin concentration in plasma by catalyzing the formation of a sandwich complex between sample insulin and anti-insulin antibody during incubation. Addition of chemiluminescent substrate indicates the concentration of insulin by photometric analysis of the intensity of luminescence. Fasting blood glucose and insulin were used to calculate HOMA-IR, as (insulin mIU/mL * glucose mmol/L)/22.5 [43].

Blood Sampling and Storage

Blood samples were collected once between 0800 and 1000h, every six months. Volunteers were fasted and refrained from exercise for 12 hours prior to blood sampling. Antecubital blood samples were drawn using a 21-gauge 19 mm needle and blood collection tubes (Vacutainer, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Samples clotted for 30 minutes at room temperature (20-24°C) and then were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 4°C. The serum was aliquoted into 2-mL polyethylene storage tubes and frozen at -80°C until analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Outlier detection (>3 SD of the mean) and examination of variable distributions for normality were conducted prior to statistical analysis to identify whether the data met the assumptions required by specific statistical techniques. One-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) were conducted on normally distributed data to compare 12-month treatment effects on anthropometric, central adiposity, and blood chemistry measures, with Bonferroni post-hoc comparison of time points and groups. Friedman's related samples two-way ANOVA was conducted on non-normally distributed data. One-way ANOVA were conducted to compare treatment effect on pre-to-post change in anthropometric, central adiposity, and blood chemistry measures. Pearson's correlation was conducted to test the relationship between central adiposity, HOMA-IR, and 12-month fasting blood glucose. A stepwise linear regression was conducted to determine whether central adiposity (baseline and 12-month values) significantly predicted 12-month fasting blood glucose. All statistical analysis was performed in IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, (Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Data were expressed as mean±standard error of the mean (SEM).

Manuscript

Abstract

Estrogen deficiency during the postmenopausal time period leads to significant metabolic changes, putting women at risk for metabolic syndrome (MetS), type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), and cardiovascular diseases (CVD). As such, finding treatments which enhance healthy metabolism and insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women is a pressing health concern. Dried plums (DP) have been investigated recently as a potential nutraceutical treatment for metabolic abnormalities such as insulin resistance, impaired glucose and lipid handling, and inflammation. This randomized control trial assessed the effects of a 12-month DP nutritional intervention on blood glucose, insulin resistance, and body fat distribution. Participants were postmenopausal women with osteopenia (n=124) who were randomized to consume either 50g DP/day (50g DP; n=46), 100g DP/day (100g DP; n=35), or no DP/day (control; n=46); all women received calcium and vitamin D. The cohort had an average age at baseline of 62.3 ± 0.5 years and an average age of menopause of 50.7±0.4 years. Seventy-two percent of participants had no previous hormone therapy use. There were no significant differences between the intervention groups or control group at baseline. The aims of this study were to assess the relationship between a DP nutritional intervention, glucose metabolism, and body fat distribution. Fasting blood glucose increased by 3.5 mg/dL in the 50g DP group from baseline to 6-months (p=0.037), contrary to our hypothesis. Additionally, the absolute change over 12months in fasting blood glucose was significantly different between 50g DP and 100g DP (p=0.009), with 50g DP group increasing by 4.1% and 100g DP group decreasing by 3.2%.

Total android mass increased significantly in the entire cohort from baseline to 6-months (p=0.006). The 50g DP group had significantly higher visceral adiposity measurements (mass: p=0.036; volume: p=0.036; area: p=0.033), BMI (p=0.025), and total body fat (p=0.019) compared to the control throughout the entire study. All measures of central adiposity were found to be significantly and positively correlated with 12-month fasting blood glucose, fasting blood insulin, and HOMA-IR (all p<0.001). Such findings indicate that while dried plum consumption does not result in a dose-dependent reduction in fasting blood glucose, as the 50g DP group experienced an increase in fasting glucose, consuming a larger dosage of dried plums (i.e., 100g DP) may be beneficial to reduce fasting glucose in postmenopausal women. Despite an increase in glucose concentration throughout the intervention in the 50g DP group, which resulted in glucose concentrations below a pre-diabetic threshold, it is unlikely that postmenopausal women will be at an increased risk of MetS, T2DM, or CVD as a result of consuming a moderate amount of dried plums. As such, the 100g DP intervention may be a better supplement dosage than 50g in postmenopausal women as it demonstrated no adverse effects on glucose metabolism or insulin resistance.

Introduction

Menopause marks an important physiological change in a woman's life. The decrease in ovarian secretion of estrogen has widespread consequences beyond reproductive health. Estrogen deficiency during the postmenopausal time period leads to significant metabolic changes [1]. Indeed, metabolic disturbances including dyslipidemia, altered body fat distribution, and indicators of insulin resistance have all been shown to be associated with the menopause transition [2-5]. These changes have important implications in the risk of metabolic diseases for postmenopausal women [2-5].

Estrogen deficiency-related metabolic changes share many common features with the abnormal metabolic profile known as metabolic syndrome (MetS). MetS is a cluster of metabolic abnormalities related to insulin resistance which significantly increases the risk of cardiovascular disease (CVD) and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM). Menopause is associated with metabolic changes consistent with MetS and these commonalities imply that menopause may lead to MetS. Because CVD is the number one cause of death for women [4] and T2DM can lead to life threatening consequences, such as diabetic coma and increased risk of CVD [7], it is important to find therapies for postmenopausal women to improve metabolic abnormalities to reduce the risk of developing MetS and associated chronic diseases.

Dietary and lifestyle interventions have been observed to prevent progression to T2DM in patients with pre-diabetes [9, 10]. Modifications to diet and lifestyle are advantageous over pharmacological interventions as they are less expensive, do not cause side effects, and provide whole body health benefits beyond diabetes prevention. One such dietary intervention that is being investigated as a treatment for metabolic abnormalities is the consumption of plum products including fresh plums, plum concentrate, and dried plums.

Dried plums are commonly recognized for their health benefits related to gastrointestinal motility due to dietary fiber content [13]. However, dried plums provide more nutritional value than fiber alone; a key nutritional component of dried plums that impacts carbohydrate and lipid metabolism is dietary phenolics [11, 12]. Dried plums have a high antioxidant capacity due to their high levels of phenolic compounds, namely chlorogenic acid and neochlorogenic acid [15].

Dietary phenolics have been shown to improve various markers of metabolic health such as blood glucose, insulin resistance, oxidation, and inflammation in a variety of models including rats, men, and postmenopausal women [11, 12, 14, 16].

Dried plum phenolics improve markers of metabolic health through multiple mechanisms, including PPAR transcription factor upregulation, antioxidant activity, and antiinflammatory activity [11-14]. Improving insulin sensitivity is a key feature of dried plum phenolic compounds, as insulin resistance interacts with multiple risk factors for T2DM and CVD [6, 7]. Insulin resistance is the factor that ties abnormal adipocyte function to clinical effects, including hyperglycemia and dyslipidemia [6, 18]. Because menopause is associated with many of the same metabolic abnormalities observed in insulin resistance, dried plum could be a viable intervention for improving risk factors of T2DM and CVD in postmenopausal women.

The purpose of this study was to assess the effect of a 12 month dried plum nutritional intervention on body fat distribution, glucose metabolism, and insulin resistance in postmenopausal women. Postmenopausal with osteopenia/osteoporosis women were randomly assigned to consume 50g dried plum/day (50g DP), 100g dried plum/day (100g DP), or no dried plums (control). Aim 1 was to determine the effect of a 12-month intervention of consuming dried plums on fasting blood glucose concentration and HOMA-IR in postmenopausal women. Aim 2 was to determine the effects of a 12-month intervention of consuming dried plums on DXA measures of central adiposity (visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android regional fat mass, android to gynoid percent fat ratio) in

postmenopausal women. Aim 3 was to determine the association between central adiposity and 12-month fasting blood glucose and HOMA-IR in postmenopausal women.

Methods

Study Design

This study was a randomized controlled trial of a dried plum nutritional intervention in postmenopausal women with osteopenia or osteoporosis (n=124). The intervention period was 12 months and the intervention groups were 50g dried plums/day (50g DP), 100g dried plums/day (100g DP), and a control group of no dried plums/day (control). Outcome variables were assessed at baseline, 6 months, and 12 months. Various bone health markers were assessed for the primary goals of the study. For this secondary analysis, outcome variables of interest included weight, BMI, fat mass, lean mass, percent body fat, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat, gynoid fat mass, gynoid total mass, gynoid percent fat, android/gynoid glucose, cholesterol, high density lipoproteins (HDL), low density lipoproteins (LDL), insulin, homeostatic model assessment of insulin resistance (HOMA-IR). Exploration of correlations between central adiposity measurements and blood glucose was also assessed. This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the Pennsylvania State University, University Park, PA.

Intervention

Initial screening period was followed by a 1-2 week baseline period, after which participants were randomized into one of three intervention groups: 1) control group who received 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily, 2) 50g/day plus 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily (roughly 6 dried plums), or 3) 100g/day plus 1200 mg calcium and 800 IU vitamin D₃ daily (roughly 12 dried plums). Dried plums were consumed in divided doses three times per day. Dried plums were provided to the two DP groups monthly for the study duration. A 2-week run-in period for the consumption of 50g and 100g of dried plums was followed by all participants to minimize gastro-intestinal issues during initiation of the intervention (details below). If necessary, some participants were provided with extra time to adjust their gastro-intestinal system to the increased consumption of dried plums, of up to two weeks. Compliance was monitored by urinary total phenolic levels and daily records of dried plum and supplement consumption.

Participants

Women were included if they were postmenopausal; aged 55 to 75 years; not severely obese (BMI <35 kg/m²); healthy (determined by a screening questionnaire, complete metabolic panel); willing to include dried plums in their daily diet; not taking any natural dietary supplement containing phenolics, ate < 1 cup/day of blueberries or apples for at least 2 months prior to study entry; non-smoking; ambulatory; and low BMD as measured by dual energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA). Eligible BMD values (T-scores) for DXA measures of the lumbar spine, total hip and/or femoral neck corresponded to T-scores between 0 and -3.0.

Exclusion criteria included the following, women who regularly consumed dried plums, dried apples, prune juice, or heavy consumers of blueberries (1 cup or more/day); vitamin D deficiency (<20 ng/mL); history of vertebral fracture or fragility fracture of the wrist, humerus, hip or pelvis after age 50 yr); untreated hyper- or hypothyroidism; current hyper- or hypoparathyroidism; significantly impaired renal function; current hypo- or hypercalcemia; history of spinal stenosis; history of heart attack, stroke, thromboembolism, kidney disease, malabsorption syndrome, seizure disorders; positive for HIV, Hep-C or Hep-B surface antigen and malignancy. Use of the following agents affecting bone metabolism were also exclusion factors: intravenous bisphosphonates at any time; fluoride (for osteoporosis) within the past 24 months; denosumab at any time; bisphosphonates, parathyroid hormone or strontium within the past 12 months; calcitonin; selective estrogen receptor modulators within the past 12 months; systemic oral or transdermal estrogen within the past 3 months; systemic glucocorticosteroids (\geq 5 mg prednisone equivalent per day for more than 10 days); or tibolone within the past 3 months. Participants who would not consume the study therapy or would not stop taking natural product supplements of their own selection were excluded.

Anthropometrics and Demographics

Participants completed demographic, reproductive, and medical history questionnaires which include questions regarding use of supplements, prescription medications, and NSAIDs, history of weight, purposeful physical activity, and dietary practices [42]. Responses were used to determine if eligibility requirements were met. Physical exams including height, weight, and BMI were conducted prior to study entry (screening) to ensure that participants were in good health and assessment of medical history and blood screening tests were used to ensure that participants have no contraindications to the consumption of dried plums. Total body mass was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg on a physician's scale (Seca, Model 770, Hamburg, Germany). Height was measured by stadiometer at the beginning of the study (baseline). Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight/height squared (kg/m²). Following, the screening/baseline appointments, body weight was monitored at monthly study visits; the baseline, 6-month, and 12-month body weights will be presented herein.

Body Fat Distribution Analysis

DXA was utilized at screening/baseline, and the 6- and 12-month visits for assessment of body composition, specifically fat mass, lean mass, percent body fat, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat, gynoid fat mass, gynoid total mass, gynoid percent fat, android/gynoid mass ratio, estimated visceral adipose mass, estimated visceral adipose volume, estimated visceral adipose area. Central adiposity variables included visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android fat mass, android total mass, android percent fat. An International Society of Clinical Densitometry (ISCD) certified technician performed and analyzed all DXA scans on a Hologic QDR4500W DXA scanner (Hologic, Bedford, MA).

Blood Chemistry

At baseline, 6-month, and 12-month visits, a morning blood draw following an overnight fast was collected for measurement and analysis. A comprehensive metabolic panel, including

fasting blood glucose, and a standard lipid panel, including total cholesterol, HDL, and LDL were analyzed by Quest Diagnostics (Secaucus, NJ). Fasting blood insulin was analyzed by Immulite solid-phase, enzyme-labeled chemiluminescent immunometric assay. This assay analyzes insulin concentration in plasma by catalyzing the formation of a sandwich complex between sample insulin and anti-insulin antibody during incubation. Addition of chemiluminescent substrate indicates the concentration of insulin by photometric analysis of the intensity of luminescence. Fasting blood glucose and insulin were used to calculate HOMA-IR, as (insulin mIU/mL * glucose mmol/L)/22.5 [43].

Blood Sampling and Storage

Blood samples were collected once between 0800 and 1000h, at baseline and every six months. Volunteers were fasted and refrained from exercise for 12 hours prior to blood sampling. Antecubital blood samples were drawn using a 21-gauge 19 mm needle and blood collection tubes (Vacutainer, Franklin Lakes, NJ). Samples clotted for 30 minutes at room temperature (20-24°C) and then were centrifuged for 15 minutes at 4°C. The serum was aliquoted into 2-mL polyethylene storage tubes and frozen at -80°C until analysis.

Statistical Analysis

Outlier detection (>3 SD of mean) and examination of variable distributions for normality were conducted prior to statistical analysis to identify whether the data met the assumptions required by specific statistical techniques. One-way repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) were conducted on normally distributed data to compare 12-month treatment effects on anthropometric, central adiposity, and blood chemistry measures, with Bonferroni post-hoc comparison of time points and groups. Friedman's related samples two-way ANOVA was conducted on non-normally distributed data. One-way ANOVA were conducted to compare treatment effect on pre-to-post change in anthropometric, central adiposity, and blood chemistry measures. Pearson's correlation was conducted to test the relationship between central adiposity, HOMA-IR, and 12-month fasting blood glucose. A stepwise linear regression was conducted to determine whether central adiposity (baseline and 12-month values) significantly predicted 12-month fasting blood glucose. All statistical analysis was performed in IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, (Version 25.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.). Data were expressed as mean±standard error of the mean (SEM).

Results

Basic Demographics

A total of 124 participants were included in this analysis. Subject intervention groups and demographics are displayed in Table 1. There were no significant differences among the groups with respect to age at start of study, age of menarche, age of menopause, or the number of women with previous hormone therapy use, history of smoking, or hysterectomy (p>0.050).

Variable	Control (<i>n</i> =46)	50g DP (<i>n</i> =43)	100g DP (<i>n</i> =35)	p-value
Age (yr)	61.8±0.72	62.9±0.72	62.5±1.0	0.594
Age of Menarche (yr)	13.0±0.23	12.9±0.19	13.0±0.19	0.904
Age of Menopause (yr)	50.6±0.62	50.6±0.79	51.0±0.66	0.880
Previous Hormone Therapy use (n, %)	13 (28.3)	14 (32.6)	8 (22.9)	0.639
History of smoking (n, %)	9 (19.6)	7 (16.3)	7 (20.0)	0.742
Hysterectomy (n, %)	4 (8.7)	8 (18.6)	2 (5.7)	0.158

Table 3. Summar	y of Sub	ject Demo	ographics.
	•/		

Values represent mean±SEM.

Anthropometrics

Participant anthropometric measurements including weight, BMI, fat mass, lean mass, and percent body fat were assessed via DXA at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months, and results are displayed in Table 4. There was a significant difference between groups for BMI (p=0.024) and percent body fat (p=0.022) at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months. The 50g DP group had significantly higher BMI than the control group at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months (p=0.025). Additionally, the 50g DP group had significantly higher percent body fat than the control group

at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months (p=0.019). No other significant differences over time or between groups were observed in any anthropometric measure recorded. There were no significant absolute changes from baseline to 12-months in any of the anthropometric variables, as displayed in Table 5.

											p-value	
Variable		Control (<i>n</i> =46)			50g DP (<i>n</i> =43)			100g DP (<i>n</i> =35)		Time	Group	Group *Time
Time (month)	0	6	12	0	6	12	0	6	12			
Height (cm)	163.3 ±0.9	-	-	161.9 ±0.8	-	-	163.0 ±1.0	-	-	-	-	-
Weight (kg)	65.2 ±1.6	65.5 ±1.6	65.7 ±1.6	69.8 ±1.7	69.9 ±1.7	69.7 ±1.6	66.8 ±1.6	67.2 ±1.8	66.7 ±1.7	0.36	0.15	0.51
BMI (kg/m ²)	24.5± 0.57	24.6 ±0.58	24.7 ±0.59	27.7 ±1.3	26.7 ±0.7	26.6 ±0.7	25.1 ±0.51	25.3 ±0.58	25.1 ±0.56	0.46	0.02	0.31
Fat Mass (kg)	25.5 ±1.2	25.7 ±1.2	26.1 ±1.2	29.4 ±1.2	29.8 ±1.3	29.6 ±1.2	26.7 ±1.0	27.1 ±1.1	26.8 ±1.1	0.09	0.06	0.48
Lean Mass (kg)	36.7 ±0.6	36.9 ±0.6	36.8 ±0.6	37.2 ±0.57	36.9 ±0.6	36.9 ±0.6	37.1 ±0.8	37.1 ±0.9	36.9 ±0.8	0.23	0.96	0.38
Percent Body Fat (%)	38.9 ±1.0	39.0 ±1.0	39.2 ±1.0	42.2 ±0.8*	42.6 ±0.9*	42.6 ±0.9*	40.1 ±0.8	40.5 ±0.8	40.3 ±0.9	0.08	0.02	0.72

Table 4. Anthropometrics across 12-months.

Values represent mean±SEM. *Significantly different from control (p<0.05).

Table 5. Percent Change in Anthropometrics across 12-months.

Variable	Control	50g DP	100g DP	n voluo
variable	(n=46)	(<i>n</i> =43)	(n=35)	p-value
Change in Weight (%)	0.73±0.39	-0.08 ± 0.58	-0.19±0.54	0.800
Change in BMI (%)	0.62 ± 0.41	-1.49±1.45	0.06 ± 0.54	0.896
Change in Fat Mass (%)	2.55 ± 1.07	0.89 ± 1.02	0.15 ± 0.92	0.534
Change in Lean Mass (%)	0.13±0.42	-0.78±0.51	-0.67 ± 52	0.347
Change in Percent Body Fat (%)	1.13±0.63	0.94±0.61	0.33±0.62	0.660

Values represent mean±SEM.

Regional Body Composition

A significant change over time was observed in android total mass (p=0.022). Android total mass significantly increased, regardless of intervention group, from baseline to 6-months (p=0.006). Significant differences among groups were observed in all visceral adiposity estimates (visceral adipose mass: p=0.036; visceral adipose volume: p=0.036; visceral adipose area: p=0.034). The 50g DP group had significantly greater visceral adiposity (mass: p=0.036; volume: p=0.036; area: p=0.033) than the control group at all time points. No other significant differences over time or between groups were observed for any regional body composition measure recorded. None of the regional body composition measurements showed a significant absolute change from baseline to 12 months, as displayed in Table 7.

											p-value	1
Variable		Control (<i>n</i> =46)		50g DP (<i>n</i> =43)		100g DP (<i>n</i> =35)		Time	Group	Group *Time		
Time (month)	0	6	12	0	6	12	0	6	12			
Android fat mass (kg)	1.8 ±0.1	1.8 ±0.1	1.8 ±0.1	2.1 ±0.1	2.2 ±0.1	2.2 ± 0.1	1.9 ±0.1	1.9 ±0.1	1.9 ±0.1	0.07	0.12	0.43
Android total mass (kg)**	4.6 ±0.2	4.7 ±0.2	4.7 ±0.2	5.1 ±0.2	5.1 ±0.2	5.1 ±0.2	4.8 ±0.2	4.8 ±0.2	4.8 ±0.2	0.02	0.17	0.31
Android percent fat (%)	36.9 ±1.4	36.2 ±1.4	37.1 ±1.4	40.0 ±1.3	40.2 ±1.4	40.9 ±1.3	38.2 ±1.3	38.4 ±1.3	38.3 ±1.4	0.11	0.14	0.18
Gynoid fat mass (kg)	4.6 ±0.2	4.6 ±0.2	4.6 ±0.1	4.9 ±0.2	5.0 ±0.2	5.0 ±0.2	4.8 ±0.2	4.9 ±0.2	4.7 ±0.2	0.28	0.21	0.51
Gynoid total mass (kg)	10.6 ±0.2	10.6 ±0.2	10.5 ±0.2	11.0 ±0.3	11.0 ±0.3	10.9 ±0.3	10.9± 0.3	10.9± 0.3	10.8 ±0.3	0.09	0.50	0.99
Gynoid percent fat (%)	42.8 ±0.7	42.6 ±0.7	43.1 ±0.6	44.6 ±0.7	45.0 ±0.8	45.1 ±0.7	43.9± 0.7	44.4± 0.8	43.8 ±0.8	0.22	0.11	0.08
Android/ Gynoid ratio	0.85 ±0.0	0.84 ±0.0	0.85 ±0.0	0.89 ±0.0	0.89 ±0.0	0.90 ±0.0	0.87 ±0.0	0.87 ±0.0	0.87 ±0.0	0.08	0.39	0.93
Visceral adipose mass (kg)*	0.5 ±0.03	0.5 ±0.04	0.5 ±0.04	$0.6 \pm 0.05^{*}$	$0.7 \pm 0.05^{*}$	$0.7\pm 0.05^*$	0.5± 0.04	0.6± 0.04	0.6± 0.04	0.07	0.04	0.15
Visceral adipose volume (cm ³)*	546 ±38	547 ±39	566 ±42	695 ±50*	708 ±52*	724 ±51*	585 ±46	613 ±46	587 ±45	0.07	0.04	0.15
Visceral adipose area (cm ²)	105 ±7	104 ±7	109 ±8	133 ±10*	136 ±10*	139 ±10*	112 ±9	118 ±9	113 ±9	0.07	0.03	0.11

Table 6. Regional body composition across 12-months.

Values represent mean±SEM. *Significantly different from control (p<0.05).

Variable	Control	50g DP	100g DP	n voluo
variable	(<i>n</i> =46)	(<i>n</i> =43)	(<i>n</i> =35)	p-value
Android fat mass (%)	3.55±1.49	3.40±1.47	-0.19±0.54	0.199
Android total mass (%)	2.60±0.69	0.90 ± 0.83	-0.06 ± 0.54	0.050
Android percent fat (%)	0.86±1.09	$2.40{\pm}1.07$	$0.01{\pm}1.14$	0.302
Gynoid fat mass (%)	0.87±0.99	$0.91{\pm}1.08$	-0.83±0.90	0.495
Gynoid total mass (%)	-0.15±0.49	-0.51±0.65	-0.58±0.59	0.851
Gynoid percent fat (%)	0.97±0.69	1.34 ± 0.62	-0.19±0.58	0.365
Android/Gynoid ratio (%)	-0.09±1.04	1.08 ± 0.80	0.16 ± 0.85	0.630
Est. visercal adipose mass (%)	3.70±2.13	4.76 ± 2.00	1.21±2.55	0.458
Est. visceral adipose volume (%)	3.72±2.13	4.77 ± 2.00	1.20 ± 2.55	0.461
Est. visceral adipose area (%)	3.73±2.14	4.81±2.00	1.20±2.55	0.455

Table 7. Percent Change in Regional Body Composition.

Values represent mean±SEM.

Blood Measures

Fasting blood samples were analyzed for glucose, total cholesterol, HDL, LDL, and insulin. HOMA-IR was calculated from the results for glucose and insulin. Blood chemistry was analyzed at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months (Table 8). At baseline, there were no significant differences among the groups for blood chemistry measures. There was a significant group*time interaction (p=0.020) for fasting glucose, such that in the 50g DP group, glucose significantly increased from baseline to 12-months (p=0.037), with a non-significant increase from 6-months to 12-months (p=0.054), as displayed in Figure 1a. Additionally, the absolute change in glucose from baseline to 12-months was significantly different between the 100g DP and 50g DP groups (p=0.014), as the 50g DP group increased by 3.5 ± 1.3 mg/dL and the 100g DP group decreased by -2.4 ± 1.6 mg/dL (Figure 4). Similarly, the percent change in glucose from baseline to 12-months was significantly different between to 200 DP groups 3.2±2.0% (Figure 5).

											p-value	
Variable		Control (<i>n</i> =46)			50g DP (<i>n</i> =43)			100g DP (<i>n</i> =35)		Time	Group	Group *Time
Time (month)	0	6	12	0	6	12	0	6	12			
Glucose (mg/dL)	92.0 ±1.2	91.3 ±1.1	91.9 ±1.1	92.8 ±1.8	93.5 ±1.6	96.3* ±1.7	98.8 ±4.3	93.3 ±1.8	93.8 ±2.0	-	-	0.020
Cholesterol (mg/dL)	205.1 ±4.1	207.2 ±4.7	212.1 ±4.7	207.3 ±5.7	199.0 ±5.4	206.5 ±6.0	197.4 ±6.6	201.9 ±6.6	198.9 ±6.9	0.326	0.490	0.105
HDL (mg/dL)	67.5 ±2.1	68.7 ±2.0	68.6 ±2.1	67.1 ±2.7	65.9 ±2.4	67.0 ±2.4	66.4 ±2.7	66.0 ±2.8	65.2 ±2.6	0.979	0.761	0.401
LDL (mg/dL)	119.3 ±3.7	119.8 ±4.5	124.2 ±4.2	117.4 ±4.7	113.9 ±5.0	117.9 ±5.0	113.6 ±6.2	117.0 ±6.2	118.9 ±6.4	0.137	0.706	0.685
Insulin (uIU/mL)	6.6 ±0.6	7.5 ±0.7	8.0 ±1.0	9.8 ±1.1	9.3 ±1.2	9.8 ±1.5	7.6 ±0.9	7.5 ±0.8	7.2 ±0.8	0.667	0.153	0.280
HOMA-IR	1.5 ±0.2	2.7 ±0.8	1.9 ±0.3	2.3 ±0.3	3.2 ±0.8	2.5 ±0.5	1.9 ±0.3	1.8 ±0.2	2.3 ±0.5	0.196	0.369	0.466

Table 8. Blood Measures across 12-months.

Values represent mean±SEM. *Significant difference in 50g DP from BL to 12-months (p=0.037).

Table 9. Percent Change in Blood Measures.

Variable	Control	50g DP	100g DP	n voluo
variable	(<i>n</i> =46)	(<i>n</i> =43)	(<i>n</i> =35)	p-value
Glucose (%)	0.85±1.39	4.08 ± 1.46	-3.15±2.00*	0.009
Cholesterol (%)	3.38±1.97	0.94±1.93	1.43 ± 1.91	0.877
HDL (%)	2.92±1.91	1.15 ± 1.72	-1.83 ± 1.47	0.484
LDL (%)	4.64±3.00	1.63 ± 2.72	8.00 ± 4.21	0.962
Insulin (%)	12.0±7.02	2.83±6.91	2.95 ± 7.95	0.543
HOMA-IR (%)	12.7±7.38	7.69±7.65	$2.90{\pm}10.51$	0.408

Values represent mean±SEM. *Significantly different from 50g DP group (p=0.006).





Error bars±SEM. *Significant difference in 50g DP from BL to 12-months (p=0.037).





Error bars±SEM. *Significant difference between 100g DP and 50g DP (p=0.014).





Relating Blood Glucose, Insulin Resistance, and Central Adiposity

All measures of central adiposity at both baseline and 12-months were found to be significantly positively correlated with 12-month glucose, insulin, and HOMA-IR (all p<0.001) (Table 10). In a linear regression model to predict 12-month fasting blood glucose, baseline android total mass was a significant independent variable (R=0.488; F=37.7; p<0.001), accounting for 23.8% of the variability in 12-month glucose levels (Table 11).

			12-month valu	es
	Measures of Central Adiposity	Glucose (mg/dL)	Insulin (uIU/mL)	HOMA-IR
Baseline values	Visceral adipose tissue mass (g)	0.475	0.504	0.444
	Visceral adipose tissue volume (cm ³)	0.475	0.505	0.444
	Visceral adipose tissue area (cm ²)	0.475	0.505	0.444
	Android fat mass (g)	0.461	0.479	0.414
	Android total mass (g)	0.488	0.484	0.418
	Android percent fat (%)	0.376	0.395	0.352
12-month values	Visceral adipose tissue mass (g)	0.445	0.508	0.426
	Visceral adipose tissue volume (cm ³)	0.445	0.508	0.426
	Visceral adipose tissue area (cm ²)	0.446	0.508	0.426
	Android fat mass (g)	0.437	0.487	0.414
	Android total mass (g)	0.446	0.487	0.422
	Android percent fat (%)	0.381	0.414	0.353

Table 10. Correlations between Central Adiposity and Blood Glucose, Insulin, and HOMA-IR.

All relationships indicate significant positive correlation (p<0.001).

Fable 11 I to a Democratica "	M. J.I.C., D., J. 4.	- f 10 4l.		M
Table 11. Linear Regression	widdel for Prediction (01 12-monun	Glucose	Concentration.

Independent Variable	R	R ²	S.E.	F Statistic	P-value
Baseline Android Total Mass (g)	0.488	0.238	8.2	37.7	< 0.001

Discussion

This was a randomized control trial to assess the impact of consuming dried plums on metabolic markers, to include fasting glucose, HOMA-IR, lipids and body composition measures in postmenopausal women with low bone mineral density for a 12-month time period. Our study outcomes highlight the important finding that despite the volume of sugars in the dried plums, the post-treatment effects on fasting glucose observed at the end of the study did not approach the threshold for a pre-diabetes or diabetes diagnosis (>100mg/dL and >126mg/dL, respectively) in either the 50 or 100g study groups [2]. We did observe divergent responses to the dried plum intervention, based on dosage and which did not follow a dose-dependent pattern. Specifically, fasting glucose increased by 3.5 mg/dL (4.1%) in the 50g DP group, while the 100g DP decreased 2.4 mg/dL (3.2%), from baseline to 12 months, resulting in a significantly different percent change in fasting glucose between the 50 and 100g intervention groups (p=0.009).

While an increase in fasting glucose was observed over the 12-month intervention in the 50g dried plum group, fasting glucose concentrations for this group did not reach the threshold for pre-diabetes or diabetes diagnosis (>100mg/dL and >126mg/dL, respectively) [2], as at 12 months the 50g DP had an average fasting glucose of 96.3 ± 1.7 mg/dL. Such results are consistent with the observations of Sullivan et al. [44] who demonstrated a 2.7 mg/dL increase in mean fasting glucose in response to a 4-week dried fruit intervention (consisting of $\frac{3}{4}$ cup/day of dried plums, figs, dates, and raisins) in adults with cardiometabolic risk factors. However, these results contrast with a previous randomized parallel group study in which overweight/obese adults consumed 200-kcal/day dried plum for 8 weeks with no demonstrable alterations in fasting glucose concentrations [45]. As such, differences in experimental design, participant

characteristics, and length of intervention may contribute to the divergent findings regarding the effects of dried plum consumption on fasting glucose.

One potential explanation that must be considered for the rise in fasting glucose observed in the 50g DP group may be due to the addition of sugar, particularly fructose, into the diet via the dried plums. However, despite high energy content due to fructose, dried plums do not appear to elevate blood sugar rapidly and have a moderate glycemic index of 54 [13]. In fact, it has been suggested that dried plums may be a reasonable food choice for patients with noninsulin dependent diabetes mellitus or insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus [46].

Another potential explanation for the increase in fasting glucose in the 50g group is that the 50g DP group had significantly higher BMI (p=0.025) and percent body fat (p=0.019) than the control group at all points throughout the study. A higher BMI and percent fat may indicate an unhealthy metabolic status, thus potentially accounting for the increase in fasting glucose throughout the 12-month intervention. Interestingly, there was a 3.2% decrease in fasting glucose in the 100g DP group. By 6 months, the 100g DP group decreased to values comparable to the 50g DP and control groups. Another noteworthy finding was that despite differences in fasting glucose concentrations among groups, dried plum consumption had no impact on insulin concentrations or HOMA-IR. This finding indicates that the rise in fasting glucose in the 50g DP group was not enough to signify altered hepatic and extrahepatic insulin resistance [47]. These data suggest that the 100g DP dosing may be an ideal supplement dosage in postmenopausal women as it demonstrated no adverse effects on glucose metabolism or insulin resistance.

Investigators of various plum products, including fresh plums and plum juice concentrate, typically report beneficial effects on lipid profiles and inflammatory markers. Noratto et al.

reported that plum juice inhibited dyslipidemia in obese Zucker rats [11], while Utsunomiya et al. reported that plum extract prevented an increase in TC and TG in Wistar fatty rats [12]. The data from the current study report similar findings, that is, we failed to observe any effect of dried plum on any blood lipid measurement. Indeed, there was no increase in blood lipids in any group and it is unclear if the dried plums had a protective effect on lipid metabolism. Since our data indicate that the 50g DP dosing had an effect on fasting glucose but not insulin resistance, the maintenance of blood lipid levels in the 50g DP group may indicate that the relationship between dyslipidemia and hyperglycemia is facilitated by insulin resistance.

DXA measures of central adiposity (visceral adipose tissue mass, visceral adipose tissue volume, visceral adipose tissue area, android regional fat mass, android to gynoid percent fat ratio) were also assessed in this study. Contrary to the hypotheses, neither the 50 nor 100g intervention group had a significant decrease in central adiposity measures. In fact, android total mass increased from baseline to 6-months for the cohort (p=0.02), particularly driven by the control group which increased 2.6%. One plausible explanation for the increased android total mass across the entire cohort is that this anthropometric alteration may be a consequence of menopause-related estrogen deficiency. Toth et al. and Ambikairajah et al. [2, 4] previously established that body fat distribution changes with menopause to favor expansion of adipose stores in the abdomen, or in android distribution.

Similar findings were observed for measures that reflect visceral adipose tissue such that the 50g DP group had significantly greater estimated visceral adipose mass (p=0.036), estimated visceral adipose volume (p=0.036), and estimated visceral adipose area (p=0.033) than the control group at baseline, 6-months, and 12-months. The significantly higher estimated visceral adiposity in the 50g DP group compared to the control group throughout the study is to be expected as the anthropometric results indicate that the 50g DP had a higher BMI and percent body fat at all time points. The lack of other significant anthropometric changes suggests our intervention did not exacerbate the menopause-related shift in body fat distribution.

Measures of central adiposity on 12-month fasting glucose were also assessed in this study. Central adiposity, specifically visceral fat, is proposed to lead to metabolic abnormalities due to dysfunctional adipocytes, inflammatory cytokine release, and excess export of lipids to the blood [10, 16]. Abildgaard et al. [5] found that in postmenopausal women, insulin sensitivity was significantly associated with total fat mass, and visceral fat mass, but not leg fat mass. As expected, all baseline visceral adipose and android composition measures were significantly and positively related to 12-month glucose, insulin, and HOMA-IR values (all p<0.001). All 12month visceral adipose and android composition measures were significantly and positively related to 12-month glucose, insulin, and HOMA-IR values (all p<0.001). These results are consistent with other investigations in postmenopausal women which reported a strong positive relationship between visceral fat mass and insulin resistance [5]. Further, when evaluating which central adiposity measures predicted 12-month fasting glucose levels, the best predictor was baseline android total mass (R=0.488; F=37.7; p<0.001) accounting for 23.8% of the variability in 12-month glucose levels. These findings reinforce the notion that central adiposity in postmenopausal women is a risk factor for impaired glucose metabolism, possibly via mechanisms mediated by visceral adipose tissue.

Summary and Conclusion

Dried plums are becoming increasingly appreciated as a potential nutraceutical therapy for various health conditions. Although a common utility of dried plums has been to promote gastric motility, recent research indicates that dried plums may provide benefits to bone health and metabolic health. The presented analysis of concurrent effects of the intervention on blood glucose and insulin resistance provides valuable information regarding potential interactions between the dried plum therapy and risk of MetS. Such side effects, including increased fasting glucose, could determine whether or not dried plums are safe to recommend to postmenopausal women seeking a nonpharmaceutical treatment for their osteopenia.

This investigation demonstrated that the 50g DP treatment significantly increased fasting blood glucose in postmenopausal women between baseline and 12 months (p=0.037), although such an increase was not great enough in magnitude to qualify as prediabetic at 12 months. In contrast, the 100g DP experienced a significant reduction in fasting glucose compared to the 50g DP group (p=0.006), whereas, insulin resistance and blood lipid levels remained unchanged, regardless of intervention group. As such, the 100g DP intervention may be an ideal supplement dosage in postmenopausal women as it demonstrated no adverse effects on glucose metabolism or insulin resistance.

This analysis also confirmed a relationship between measures of central adiposity and 12month fasting glucose. There was a significant positive correlation between all measures of central adiposity (visceral adipose mass, visceral adipose volume, visceral adipose area, android total mass, android fat mass, android percent fat) at both baseline and 12-months, and 12-month fasting blood glucose (all p<0.001). Further, baseline android total mass was found to be a significant predictor of 12-month fasting blood glucose (p<0.001). These relationships confirm that central adiposity in postmenopausal women is a risk factor for impaired glucose metabolism, possibly via mechanisms mediated by visceral adipose tissue. Despite an increase glucose concentration throughout the intervention in the 50g DP group, which resulted in glucose concentrations below a pre-diabetic threshold, it is unlikely that postmenopausal women will be at an increased risk of MetS, T2DM, or CVD as a result of consuming a moderate amount of dried plums.

These conclusions are limited, however, in that many outcomes were close to, but did not reach, statistical significance, the cohort lacks racial diversity, and the intervention groups varied in baseline BMI and body fat percent. As a number of our outcome variables had significance values close to, but not quite meeting significance (p<0.05), it is likely that a larger sample size would have been beneficial to have the power to detect differences. Additionally, these results may not be generalizable to postmenopausal women who are not White, as the cohort consisted of 122 White women, 1 Asian woman, and 1 Hispanic/Latina woman from central Pennsylvania. Finally, analysis was not conducted accounting for potential covariates, baseline BMI and baseline body fat percent, which were significantly different as the 50g DP group had significantly higher BMI (p=0.025) and percent body fat (p=0.019), compared to the control group. Therefore, additional investigation is warranted, in which a larger sample size and analysis controlling for baseline BMI and baseline body fat percent as the 50g DP group had significantly higher BMI (p=0.025) and percent body fat percent may address potential impacts on the blood glucose outcome.

Future directions for this research should begin by expanding and diversifying the sample population and controlling for baseline differences in anthropometric measures. As there is heterogeneity in the literature at the present, more studies of the effect of dried plums on blood glucose and insulin resistance should be conducted to attempt to clarify whether dried plums cause a dose-dependent modest elevation in blood glucose as observed in this data, as this was not an expected outcome. Further, the effect of dried plums on blood glucose and insulin resistance should be investigated in other populations at risk for MetS such as overweight men and premenopausal women to determine whether dried plums have unique effects in a postmenopausal population.

In summary, these results indicate a dried plum nutritional intervention does not have metabolic consequences significant enough to contraindicate their use in postmenopausal women with osteopenia. Despite an increase glucose concentration throughout the intervention in the 50g DP group, which resulted in glucose concentrations below a pre-diabetic threshold, it is unlikely that postmenopausal women will be at an increased risk of MetS, T2DM, or CVD as a result of consuming a moderate amount of dried plums. Additionally, the 100g DP group showed no decline in glucose metabolism throughout the intervention. As such, 100g DP intervention appears most suitable for nutraceutical therapy in postmenopausal women. These results also demonstrate that central adiposity poses a risk for metabolic abnormalities in postmenopausal women, highlighting the relationship between body fat distribution and metabolic health for this population.

Chapter 5

Conclusion

Dried plums are becoming increasingly appreciated as a potential nutraceutical therapy for various health conditions. Although a common utility of dried plums has been to promote gastric motility, recent research indicates that dried plum may provide benefits to bone health and metabolic health. The presented analysis of concurrent effects of the intervention on blood glucose and insulin resistance provides valuable information regarding potential interactions between the dried plum therapy and risk of MetS. Such side effects, including increased fasting glucose, could determine whether or not dried plums are safe to recommend to postmenopausal women seeking a nonpharmaceutical treatment for their osteopenia.

This investigation demonstrated that 50g DP treatment significantly increased fasting blood glucose in postmenopausal women between baseline and 12 months (p=0.037), although such an increase was not great enough in magnitude to qualify as prediabetic at 12 months. In contrast, the 100g DP experienced a significant reduction in fasting glucose compared to the 50g DP group (p=0.006). Insulin resistance and blood lipid levels remained unchanged, regardless of intervention group. As such, the 100g DP intervention may be an ideal supplement dosage in postmenopausal women as it demonstrated no adverse effects on glucose metabolism or insulin resistance.

This analysis also confirmed a relationship between measures of central adiposity and 12month fasting glucose. There was a significant positive correlation between all measures of central adiposity (visceral adipose mass, visceral adipose volume, visceral adipose area, android total mass, android fat mass, android percent fat) at both baseline and 12-months, and 12-month fasting blood glucose (all p<0.001). Further, baseline android total mass was found to be a significant predictor of 12-month fasting blood glucose (p<0.001). These relationships confirm that central adiposity in postmenopausal women is a risk factor for impaired glucose metabolism, possibly via mechanisms mediated by visceral adipose tissue.

These conclusions are limited, however, in that many outcomes were close to, but did not reach, statistical significance, the cohort lacks racial diversity, and the intervention groups varied in baseline BMI and body fat percent. As a number of our outcome variables had significance values close to, but not quite meeting significance (p<0.05), it is likely that a larger sample size would have been beneficial to have the power to detect differences. Additionally, these results may not be generalizable to postmenopausal women who are not White, as the cohort consisted of 122 White women, 1 Asian woman, and 1 Hispanic/Latina woman from central Pennsylvania. Finally, analysis was not conducted accounting for potential covariates, baseline BMI and baseline body fat percent, which were significantly different as the 50g DP group had significantly higher BMI (p=0.025) and percent body fat (p=0.019), compared to the control group. Therefore, additional investigation is warranted, in which a larger sample size and analysis controlling for baseline BMI and baseline body fat percent may address potential impacts on the blood glucose outcome.

Future directions for this research should begin by expanding and diversifying the sample population and controlling for baseline differences in anthropometric measures. As there is heterogeneity in the literature at the present, more studies of the effect of dried plums on blood glucose and insulin resistance should be conducted to attempt to clarify whether dried plums cause a dose-dependent modest elevation in blood glucose as observed in this data, as this was not an expected outcome. Further, the effect of dried plums on blood glucose and insulin
resistance should be investigated in other populations at risk for MetS such as overweight men and premenopausal women to determine whether dried plums have unique effects in a postmenopausal population.

In summary, these results indicate a dried plum nutritional intervention does not have metabolic consequences significant enough to contraindicate their use in postmenopausal women with osteopenia. Despite an increase glucose concentration throughout the intervention in the 50g DP group, which resulted in glucose concentrations below a pre-diabetic threshold, it is unlikely that postmenopausal women will be at an increased risk of MetS, T2DM, or CVD as a result of consuming a moderate amount of dried plums. Additionally, the 100g DP group showed no decline in glucose metabolism throughout the intervention. As such, 100g DP intervention appears most suitable for nutraceutical therapy in postmenopausal women. These results also demonstrate that central adiposity poses a risk for metabolic abnormalities in postmenopausal women, highlighting the relationship between body fat distribution and metabolic health for this population.

64

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 1. Marchand, G.B., et al., *Increased body fat mass explains the positive association between circulating estradiol and insulin resistance in postmenopausal women.* American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism, 2018. **314**(5): p. E448-E456.
- 2. Toth, M.J., et al., *Menopause-related changes in body fat distribution*. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 2000. **904**: p. 502-6.
- 3. Taleb-Belkadi, O., et al., *Lipid profile, inflammation, and oxidative status in peri- and postmenopausal women.* Gynecological endocrinology : the official journal of the International Society of Gynecological Endocrinology, 2016. **32**(12): p. 982-985.
- 4. Ambikairajah, A., et al., *Fat mass changes during menopause: a metaanalysis.* American journal of obstetrics and gynecology, 2019.
- 5. Abildgaard, J., et al., *Ectopic Lipid Deposition Is Associated With Insulin Resistance in Postmenopausal Women.* The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism, 2018. **103**(9): p. 3394-3404.
- 6. O'Neill, S. and L. O'Driscoll, *Metabolic syndrome: a closer look at the growing epidemic and its associated pathologies*. Obesity reviews : an official journal of the International Association for the Study of Obesity, 2015. **16**(1): p. 1-12.
- 7. Diabetes mellitus: a major risk factor for cardiovascular disease. A joint editorial statement by the American Diabetes Association; The National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute; The Juvenile Diabetes Foundation International; The National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases; and The American Heart Association. Circulation, 1999. **100**(10): p. 1132-3.
- 8. Bastard, J.P., et al., *Recent advances in the relationship between obesity, inflammation, and insulin resistance*. European cytokine network, 2006. **17**(1): p. 4-12.
- 9. Slentz, C.A., et al., *Effects of exercise training alone vs a combined exercise and nutritional lifestyle intervention on glucose homeostasis in prediabetic individuals: a randomised controlled trial.* Diabetologia, 2016. **59**(10): p. 2088-98.
- 10. Knowler, W.C., et al., *Reduction in the incidence of type 2 diabetes with lifestyle intervention or metformin.* The New England journal of medicine, 2002. **346**(6): p. 393-403.
- 11. Noratto, G., et al., *Consumption of polyphenol-rich peach and plum juice prevents risk factors for obesity-related metabolic disorders and cardiovascular disease in Zucker rats.* The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 2015. **26**(6): p. 633-41.
- 12. Utsunomiya, H., et al., *Anti-hyperglycemic effects of plum in a rat model of obesity and type 2 diabetes, Wistar fatty rat.* Biomedical research, 2005. **26**(5): p. 193-200.
- 13. Stacewicz-Sapuntzakis, M., et al., *Chemical composition and potential health effects of prunes: a functional food?* Critical reviews in food science and nutrition, 2001. **41**(4): p. 251-86.
- 14. Chai, S.C., et al., *Daily apple versus dried plum: impact on cardiovascular disease risk factors in postmenopausal women.* Journal of the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics, 2012. **112**(8): p. 1158-68.
- 15. Piga, A., A. Del Caro, and G. Corda, *From plums to prunes: influence of drying parameters on polyphenols and antioxidant activity.* Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2003. **51**(12): p. 3675-81.
- 16. Shahidi, F. and J. Yeo, *Bioactivities of Phenolics by Focusing on Suppression of Chronic Diseases: A Review*. International journal of molecular sciences, 2018. **19**(6).
- 17. Dubois, V., et al., *Distinct but complementary contributions of PPAR isotypes to energy homeostasis.* The Journal of clinical investigation, 2017. **127**(4): p. 1202-1214.
- 18. Ginsberg, H.N. and L.S. Huang, *The insulin resistance syndrome: impact on lipoprotein metabolism and atherothrombosis.* Journal of cardiovascular risk, 2000. **7**(5): p. 325-31.

- 19. Arjmandi, B.H., et al., *Bone-Protective Effects of Dried Plum in Postmenopausal Women: Efficacy and Possible Mechanisms.* Nutrients, 2017. **9**(5).
- 20. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. 2010, American Diabetes Association.
- 21. *National Diabetes Statistics Report, 2017.* 2017, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion.
- 22. Hue, L. and H. Taegtmeyer, *The Randle cycle revisited: a new head for an old hat*. American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism, 2009. **297**(3): p. E578-91.
- 23. Sareen, S.G., Smith, J.L., *Advanced Nutrition and Human Metabolism*. 7 ed. 2018, Boston, MA: Cengage Learning.
- Jannasch, F., J. Kroger, and M.B. Schulze, *Dietary Patterns and Type 2 Diabetes: A Systematic Literature Review and Meta-Analysis of Prospective Studies*. The Journal of nutrition, 2017. 147(6): p. 1174-1182.
- 25. Piche, M.E., et al., *Measuring insulin sensitivity in postmenopausal women covering a range of glucose tolerance: comparison of indices derived from the oral glucose tolerance test with the euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp.* Metabolism: clinical and experimental, 2007. **56**(9): p. 1159-66.
- 26. Bluher, M., *Adipose tissue inflammation: a cause or consequence of obesity-related insulin resistance?* Clinical science, 2016. **130**(18): p. 1603-14.
- 27. Xu, J.G., Q.P. Hu, and Y. Liu, *Antioxidant and DNA-protective activities of chlorogenic acid isomers*. Journal of agricultural and food chemistry, 2012. **60**(46): p. 11625-30.
- 28. Santana-Galvez, J., L. Cisneros-Zevallos, and D.A. Jacobo-Velazquez, *Chlorogenic Acid: Recent Advances on Its Dual Role as a Food Additive and a Nutraceutical against Metabolic Syndrome.* Molecules, 2017. **22**(3).
- 29. van Dijk, A.E., et al., *Acute effects of decaffeinated coffee and the major coffee components chlorogenic acid and trigonelline on glucose tolerance.* Diabetes care, 2009. **32**(6): p. 1023-5.
- 30. Patti, A.M., et al., *Effect of a Natural Supplement Containing Curcuma Longa, Guggul, and Chlorogenic Acid in Patients With Metabolic Syndrome*. Angiology, 2015. **66**(9): p. 856-61.
- 31. Manninen, V., et al., Joint effects of serum triglyceride and LDL cholesterol and HDL cholesterol concentrations on coronary heart disease risk in the Helsinki Heart Study. Implications for treatment. Circulation, 1992. **85**(1): p. 37-45.
- 32. Rubins, H.B., et al., *Gemfibrozil for the secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in men with low levels of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol. Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Cholesterol Intervention Trial Study Group.* The New England journal of medicine, 1999. **341**(6): p. 410-8.
- 33. Secondary prevention by raising HDL cholesterol and reducing triglycerides in patients with coronary artery disease. Circulation, 2000. **102**(1): p. 21-7.
- 34. Keech, A., et al., *Effects of long-term fenofibrate therapy on cardiovascular events in 9795 people with type 2 diabetes mellitus (the FIELD study): randomised controlled trial.* Lancet, 2005. **366**(9500): p. 1849-61.
- 35. Ginsberg, H.N., et al., *Effects of combination lipid therapy in type 2 diabetes mellitus*. The New England journal of medicine, 2010. **362**(17): p. 1563-74.
- 36. Liang, N. and D.D. Kitts, *Role of Chlorogenic Acids in Controlling Oxidative and Inflammatory Stress Conditions*. Nutrients, 2015. **8**(1).
- 37. Furukawa, S., et al., *Increased oxidative stress in obesity and its impact on metabolic syndrome*. The Journal of clinical investigation, 2004. **114**(12): p. 1752-61.
- Pari, L., K. Karthikesan, and V.P. Menon, *Comparative and combined effect of chlorogenic acid* and tetrahydrocurcumin on antioxidant disparities in chemical induced experimental diabetes. Molecular and cellular biochemistry, 2010. **341**(1-2): p. 109-17.
- 39. Lucas, E.A., et al., *Prune suppresses ovariectomy-induced hypercholesterolemia in rats*. The Journal of nutritional biochemistry, 2000. **11**(5): p. 255-9.

- 40. Gonzalez-Flores, D., et al., *Ingestion of Japanese plums (Prunus salicina Lindl. cv. Crimson Globe) increases the urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin and total antioxidant capacity levels in young, middle-aged and elderly humans: Nutritional and functional characterization of their content.* Journal of Food and Nutrition Research, 2011. **50**(4): p. 229-236.
- 41. Tinker, L.F., et al., *Consumption of prunes as a source of dietary fiber in men with mild hypercholesterolemia.* The American journal of clinical nutrition, 1991. **53**(5): p. 1259-65.
- 42. Ahmed, T., et al., *Use of prunes as a control of hypertension*. Journal of Ayub Medical College, Abbottabad : JAMC, 2010. **22**(1): p. 28-31.
- 43. Matthews, D.R., et al., *Homeostasis model assessment: insulin resistance and beta-cell function from fasting plasma glucose and insulin concentrations in man.* Diabetologia, 1985. **28**(7): p. 412-9.
- 44. Sullivan, V., K. Peterson, and P. Kris-Etherton, *Short-term dried fruit consumption induces metabolic changes compared to carbohydrate-rich snacks in free-living adults at increased risk of cardiometabolic diseases.* Journal of Nutrition, 2020. (in review).
- 45. Clayton, Z.S., et al., Snack selection influences glucose metabolism, antioxidant capacity and cholesterol in healthy overweight adults: A randomized parallel arm trial. Nutr Res, 2019. **65**: p. 89-98.
- 46. Iron, A., et al., *Effect of prunes on insulin secretion in healthy young men.* An Outstanding Profile. 1998, Villeneuve sur lot, France.
- 47. Bock, G., et al., *Contribution of hepatic and extrahepatic insulin resistance to the pathogenesis of impaired fasting glucose: role of increased rates of gluconeogenesis.* Diabetes, 2007. **56**(6): p. 1703-11.

Academic Vita of Emily Barton

Education

Pennsylvania State University, Schreyer Honors College Nutritional Science, Nutritional Physiology and Biochemistry Option Kinesiology minor, Biology minor Honors in Nutritional Science

Thesis

The Effect of a Dried Plum Nutritional Intervention on Glucose Regulation in Postmenopausal Women

Thesis supervisor: Dr. Mary Jane De Souza

Work and Research Experience

Undergraduate Laboratory Research Assistant1/2017-PresentWomen's Health and Exercise Lab, Penn State Department of Kinesiology, University Park, PA

- Assisted in the BSL2 lab of Dr. Mary Jane De Souza performing wet lab procedures.
- Compiled subject data into nutrition programming for nutrient analysis.
- Developed proficiency in technical writing and scientific literature analysis.

Emergency Medical Technician

9/2018-Present

Centre LifeLink EMS, State College, PA

- Handles all aspects of responding to Basic Life Support 911 calls including patient care and transportation.
- Operates in conjunction with paramedics in Advanced Life Support patients.
- Coordinates with law enforcement and fire personnel in multidiscipline emergency events.

Leadership and Involvement

Fundraising Director - Penn State Project Haiti

- Coordinates with businesses and organizations to plan club fundraisers.
- Encourages club member participation in fundraisers.

Member - College of Health and Human Development Ambassador

- Represents the College to high school students and their families as a student panelist
- Meets with current Penn State underclassmen and accepted students at group presentations and one-on-one meetings.
- Developed proficiency in public speaking and interpersonal skills.

Member - Penn State Club Triathlon

Teaching Assistant - Kinesiology 403

Student Athlete - Penn State Women's Rugby

Honors

Schreyer Academic Excellence Scholarship (2016-2020) HHD Scholarship (2016-2020) Nutritional Science Scholarship (2018-2020) HHD Summer Research Scholarship (2019)